
1

Council
Contact Officer: Steven Corrigan

Tel: 01235 422526

E-mail: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk

Textphone:  18001 01235 422526

Date: 5 February 2020

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

Summons to attend 
a meeting of Council
to be held on 

THURSDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2020  AT 6.00 PM

at

THE FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, CROWMARSH 
GIFFORD

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio cassette or CD, and email.  For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.  

MARGARET REED
Head of Legal and Democratic 

Note: Please remember to sign the attendance register.

Public Document Pack



2

Agenda
Map

A map showing the location of Howbery Park is attached, as is a plan showing the 
location of the Fountain Conference Centre on the Howbery Park site.  

1 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence.  

2 Minutes (Pages 11 - 21)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Council minutes of the meeting held on 19 
December 2019.  

3 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.   

4 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

5 Public participation  

To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.  

6 Petitions  

To receive any petitions from the public.  

7 Treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2019/20  
(Pages 22 - 36)

Cabinet, at its meeting on 30 January 2020, considered a monitoring report on the 
treasury management activities for the first six months of 2019/20 and an update on 
the current economic conditions with a view to the remainder of the year.  

The Joint Audit and Governance Committee considered the report at its meeting on 
27 January 2020. The committee resolved to note the treasury management mid-
year monitoring report 2019/20 and was satisfied that the treasury activities are 
carried out in accordance with the treasury management strategy and policy. The 
committee also supported the changes to the counterparty limits. 
  



3

The report of the interim head of finance, which Cabinet considered on 30 January 
2020, is attached. 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL to: 

1. note that the Joint Audit and Governance Committee is satisfied that the 
treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the treasury management 
strategy and policy; 

2. approve the interim head of finance’s report to Cabinet on 30 January 2020; 
and 

3. agree the changes to the counterparty limits identified in paragraphs 21 and 22 
of the interim head of finance’s report.  

8 Treasury management and investment strategy 2020/21  
(Pages 37 - 69)

Cabinet, at its meeting on 30 January 2020, considered a report on the council’s 
treasury management and investment strategy for 2020/21. 

The Joint Audit and Governance Committee considered the report at its meeting on 
27 January 2020 and had not recommended any adjustments to the strategy.  

The committee resolved to recommend Cabinet to approve the treasury 
management strategy, the prudential indicators and limits for 2020/21 to 2022/23 
and the annual investment strategy 2020/21 as set out in the report.

The report of the interim head of finance, which Cabinet considered on 30 January 
2020, is attached. 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL to: 
1. approve the treasury management strategy 2020/21, set out in appendix A to the 

interim head of finance’s report to Cabinet on 30 January 2020;  
2. approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2020/21 to 2022/23, as set out in 

appendix A to the interim head of finance’s report; and  
3. approve the annual investment strategy 2020/21, set out in appendix A 

(paragraphs 41 to 82) to the interim head of finance’s report, and the lending 
criteria detailed in table 5 to that report.  

9 Capital strategy 2020/21 to 2029/30 (Pages 70 - 81)

Cabinet, at its meeting on 30 January 2020, considered a report on the capital 
strategy for 2020/21 to 2029/30.   

The report of the interim head of finance, which Cabinet considered on 30 January 
2020, is attached. 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL: to approve the capital strategy 2020/21 to 
2029/30 which is contained in appendix one of the interim head of finance’s report to 
Cabinet on 30 January 2020.  



4

10 Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Capital Programme to 2024/25  

Cabinet, at its meeting on 30 January 2020, considered a report on the draft 
revenue budget 2020/21, and the capital programme to 2024/25. 

The report of the interim head of finance, which Cabinet considered, has been 
circulated to all councillors. Please bring this to the Council meeting.  

At its meeting Cabinet resolved the following:

(a) that Cabinet is minded to adopt recommendation 1 and minded to recommend 
Council to adopt recommendation 2, as set out in the interim head of finance’s 
report to Cabinet on 30 January 2020, subject to a reduction from £500,000 to 
£410,000 in recommendation 2(e) by halving the councillor grants budget from 
£180,000 to £90,000; 

(b) that Cabinet invites Scrutiny Committee’s comments on (a) above; and 

(c) that Cabinet reconsiders the interim head of finance’s budget report at a 
Cabinet meeting on 11 February 2020 at 9.30am and makes 
recommendations to Council on 13 February 2020.  

At its meeting on 4 February the Scrutiny Committee resolved to recommend 
Cabinet to allocate £500,000 to fund the Communities Capital and Revenue Grant 
Scheme and not to half the councillor grants budget from £180,000 to
£ £90,000. 

The committee did not support Cabinet’s minded decision to maintain car park fees 
and charges at current levels pending a review of fees and charges later in the year. 

Cabinet’s recommendations will be circulated to all councillors following the meeting 
on 11 February 2020. 

11 Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle (EV) Infrastructure Steering 
Group  

Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) is proposing to develop an Oxfordshire Electric 
Vehicle (EV) Infrastructure Strategy to establish the principles and an action plan to 
deliver the charging infrastructure needed to support the transition to low emission 
vehicles in the county. To assist with the development of the strategy, OCC has 
invited the council to appoint a councillor to the Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure Steering Group. 

At its meeting on 28 January 2020 the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee 
considered an officer proposal that South Oxfordshire District Council’s 
representative should be a member of the committee. The committee agreed to 
recommend Council to appoint Councillor Caroline Newton as the council’s 
representative.



5

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL: to

1. appoint Councillor Caroline Newton as the council’s representative on the 
Oxfordshire Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Steering Group;

2. appoint all members of the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee as 
substitute members.  

12 Pay policy statement 2020/21 (Pages 82 - 85)

To consider the report of the acting deputy chief executive – transformation and 
operations on the adoption of a pay policy statement to meet the requirements of 
the Localism Act - report attached.

13 Report of the leader of the council  

To receive any updates from the leader of the council.

14 Questions on notice  

To receive questions from councillors in accordance with Council procedure rule 33.  

1. Question from Councillor Anna Badcock to Councillor Pieter-Paul Barker, 
Cabinet member for partnership and insight 

“Can you detail the timescales for delivering against the climate emergency motion 
that was carried by the Conservative led Council in April 2019”? 

2. Question from Councillor Ken Arlett to Councillor David Rouane, Cabinet 
member for housing and environment 

“Over the past six months we have had on going complaints from members of the 
public, with the cleaning of the three toilet blocks in Henley. These complaints have 
all been serialised in the local Henley Standard.

Can the Cabinet Member please explain why this contract has been let for another 
nine months to the same contractor, when they are unable to clean the toilets to an 
acceptable standard”?

3. Question from Councillor Celia Wilson to Councillor Maggie Filipova-Rivers, 
Cabinet member for community services 

Can you give assurances that any review of the Didcot Cornerstone Arts Centre will 
be:
a) open and transparent;
b) involve all concerned people including the population and elected representatives 
of Didcot; and
c) allow enough time for remedies to the difficulties to be put in place?



6

15 Motions on notice  

To consider motions from councillors in accordance with Council procedure rule 38.  

(1) Motion to be proposed by Councillor Alexandrine Kantor, seconded by 
Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye: 

Council notes the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) definition 
of Antisemitism is the most widely accepted and recognized definition of anti-Jewish 
racism. It states that: Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be 
expressed as hatred toward Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of 
Antisemitism are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their 
property, toward Jewish community institutions and religious facilities.

Council notes the All Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims (APPG) 
definition of Islamophobia: Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism 
that targets expressions of Muslimness or perceived Muslimness.

Council notes that, by using these definitions, it helps to understand, identify, and 
tackle Antisemitism and Islamophobia.

Council holds the right to freedom of speech and freedom of religion as 
fundamentals but freedom of speech is not an unlimited right, and should not be 
used to advocate racial or religious hatred that constitutes incitement to 
discrimination, hostility or violence.

Council resolves to:

● condemn all hate crimes and deplore the rise in hate crimes against 
members of the Jewish and Muslim communities in Britain.

● condemn all inflammatory rhetoric in political discourse: including antisemitic 
and islamophobic tropes used by politicians and public servants.

● adopt the IHRA definition of Antisemitism in full and without amendment.

● adopt the APPG definition of Islamophobia in full and without amendment.

● ask officers to update this council’s equality policies to this effect.

(2) Motion to be proposed by Councillor Anne-Marie Simpson, seconded by 
Councillor Victoria Haval: 

Council notes the risks associated with modern life are significantly different from 
those of 1847 when the Town Police Clauses Act was passed, and even from those 
of the 1970s when the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
came into force. Clearly, the legislation has not kept pace with developments, in 
particular with the way we use technology, apps, and mobile phones. It is difficult to 
facilitate a regulatory system when the legislation is based on the use of horse-



7

drawn carriages and landline phones. 

There is also a lack of consistency across the legislation. For example, the law 
requires a person who takes bookings for private hire vehicles to be licensed 
but there is no similar requirement for someone who does the same for hackney 
carriages. This lack, apart from the potential for sensitive personal information to fall 
into the wrong hands, can make it very difficult to investigate allegations of improper 
conduct by drivers of hackney carriages. This could undermine public confidence in 
the licensing regime. In addition, it provides a mechanism for private hire operators 
who have lost their licence to continue in business. They simply move to only 
“operating” hackney carriages, and no controls can be placed on them at all.

Examples of recent local issues include hackney carriage ‘operators’ who have 
pressured drivers to work excessively long hours with no proper breaks, and those 
who do not maintain their vehicles properly and continually present vehicles to 
testing stations which fail the test. The overriding aim of any licensing authority 
when carrying out its functions relating to the licensing of hackney or private hire 
drivers, vehicle proprietors, and operators is the protection of the public.

The Oxfordshire district councils and the county council share information under a 
Joint Operating Framework, and there is a national register of revoked and refused 
licences operated by the National Anti-Fraud Network. However, this does not 
address situations where drivers have allowed their licence to lapse pending 
enforcement action at one local authority and apply to another authority without 
declaring that enforcement action or the previous licences held. Local authority 
prosecutions are not currently detailed on enhanced DBS disclosures and there are 
recent local examples of the councils only finding out about such prosecutions by 
chance and after the licence has been granted. 

Council therefore requests that the Leader of the council write to the district’s two 
Members of Parliament and to the Minister for Transport to request that the 
following action be taken:

1. The Government should move forward without delay on the three key measures 
recommended to achieve a safe service for passengers in the Taxi and PHV 
Licensing Task and Finish Group report, namely:   

·    The introduction of a national taxi licensing database;
·    Some form of cross border enforcement for local authorities; 
·    National minimum standards for licences.

2. The Government should provide an update in respect of how they propose to 
deal with cross-border working;

3. The Government should legislate to require any person taking bookings for more 
than one vehicle to be licensed as an operator, with national standards for 
the information recorded by licensed operators in respect of bookings.

  
(3) Motion to be proposed by Councillor Kate Gregory, seconded by Councillor 

Ken Arlett: 

Council notes the views of the Local Government Association and the Royal Town 
Planning Institute, who recognise that problems have been caused by the 2013 



8

deregulation of the Planning System which allows offices to be converted into 
homes without planning permission. Currently, developers do not have to contribute 
towards affordable Social Housing or local infrastructure and there is no ability to 
consider whether the development provides suitable levels of internal or external 
amenity space, privacy, sunlight, daylight or outlook.

Council asks the leader of the council to write to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government to call for a review of the wide-ranging impacts 
of permitted development rights which allow change of use into residential homes.

16 Exclusion of the public  

To consider whether to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting 
for the following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access 
to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 
(i) it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 

1-7 Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and 
(ii) the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.  

17 Corporate services contract  

Cabinet, at its meeting on 11 February 2020, will consider a confidential report on 
the corporate services contract.  

The report of the acting deputy chief executive – partnership and planning, which 
Cabinet will consider on 11 February 2020, has been circulated to all councillors. 

Cabinet’s recommendations will be circulated to all councillors prior to the Council 
meeting. 

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic 



B4009 Watlington
M40 J6

River Tham
es

Wallingford

Crowmarsh
Gi�ord

Benson

A4074

A4074

A4
07

4

A4074

A4130

A
4130

A4130

W
ALL

IN
GFO

RD
 R

OAD A
329

WANTAGE ROAD

A4130

CASTLE STREET

READ
IN

G
 RO

AD

HITHERCROFT RD

THE STREET

BE
N

SO
N

 L
AN

E

Brightwell

A4074 Reading

A4130 Didcot

A4074 Oxford

Centre for Ecology 
& Hydrology

South Oxfordshire 
District Council

Birmingham airport

London Heathrow

A4130 Henley
  M40 J4   

North

Sat Nav: OX10 8BA

P
age 9

A
genda A

nnex



Bus stop

finding your w
ay around 

how
bery park

Wallingford 
Reading A4074

Oxford A4074



Kestrel House

Red Kite House

Ship Simulation Centre

The Innovation Centre

Flume
Lambourn







North 
gate

South gate: 
Main entrance

Froude Modelling Hall

Manor House

Fountain

Stables

Thames 

Boat House

Evenlode
Annex

Fountain Conference Centre

Isis

HR Wallingford
Howbery Park
Wallingford
Oxfordshire OX10 8BA
United Kingdom

T +44 (0)1491 835381
F +44 (0)1491 832233
info@hrwallingford.com

www.hrwallingford.com

P
age 10

A
genda A

nnex



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Council

HELD ON THURSDAY 19 DECEMBER 2019 AT 6.00 PM

THE FOUNTAIN CONFERENCE CENTRE, HOWBERY PARK, CROWMARSH 
GIFFORD

Present:

David Bretherton (Chair)

Ken Arlett, Pieter-Paul Barker, Robin Bennett, Sue Cooper, Peter Dragonetti, Maggie 
Filipova-Rivers, Elizabeth Gillespie, Sarah Gray, Victoria Haval, Simon Hewerdine, 
Lorraine Hillier, Alexandrine Kantor, Mocky Khan, George Levy, Lynn Lloyd, Axel 
Macdonald, Caroline Newton, Andrea Powell, Leigh Rawlins, Jo Robb, Sue Roberts, David 
Rouane, Anne-Marie Simpson, Ian Snowdon, Alan Thompson, David Turner and Ian White

Apologies:

Anna Badcock, David Bartholomew, Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Stefan Gawrysiak, Kate 
Gregory, Kellie Hinton, Jane Murphy and Celia Wilson tendered apologies. 

Officers: Steven Corrigan, Simon Hewings, William Jacobs, Margaret Reed and Mark 
Stone

38 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 10 October 
2019 as a correct record and agree that the Chairman sign them as such.

39 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest 

None.

40 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

The Chairman provided general housekeeping information and advised there were no 
items of urgent business.

At the request of the Chairman, Mark Stone, Chief Executive, provided an update on the 
Local Plan 2034. He advised that the direction issued by the Secretary of State for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government remained in place (see minute 28 of the 

Public Document Pack

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



2

October Council meeting). Officers were in discussion with civil servants and a decision 
was expected in the new year.

41 Public participation 
None.

42 Petitions 
None.

43 Making the Berrick Salome Neighbourhood Development Plan 

Council considered the recommendations of Cabinet, made at its meeting on 5 December 
2019, on making the Berrick Salome Neighbourhood Development Plan part of the 
development plan for South Oxfordshire.

The plan was compatible with the European Union obligations and complied with the 
Habitats Regulations Assessment.  

RESOLVED to: 
1. make the Berrick Salome Neighbourhood Development Plan so that it continues to 

be part of the council’s development plan; and  
2. authorise the head of planning, in consultation with the Cabinet member for planning, 

and in agreement with the Qualifying Body, to correct any spelling, grammatical, 
typographical or factual errors together with any improvements from a presentational 
perspective.  

44 Treasury Management Outturn 2018-19 

Council considered Cabinet’s recommendations, made at its meeting on 5 December 
2019, on the outturn performance of the treasury management function for the financial 
year 2018/19. 

The Joint Audit and Governance Committee and Cabinet had considered the head of 
finance’s report and were satisfied that the treasury activities had been carried out in 
accordance with the treasury management strategy and policy.

RESOLVED: to 
1. approve the treasury management outturn report 2018/19; and 
2. approve the actual 2018/19 prudential indicators within the report.  

45 Council tax base 2020/21 

Council considered Cabinet’s recommendations, made at its meeting on 5 December 
2019, on the council tax base for 2020/21.

Page 12

Agenda Item 2



3

RESOLVED: 
1. to approve the report of the head of finance to Cabinet on 5 December 2019 for the 

calculation of the council’s tax base and the calculation of the tax base for each 
parish area for 2020/21 be approved; 

2. that, in accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the amount calculated by South Oxfordshire District 
Council as its council tax base for the year 2020/21 be 57,848.5; and  

3. that, in accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the amount calculated by South Oxfordshire District 
Council as the council tax base for the year 2020/21 for each parish be the amount 
shown against the name of that parish in Appendix 1 of the report of the head of 
finance to Cabinet on 5 December 2019. 

46 Designating the council's section 151 chief finance officer 

Simon Hewings left the room during the consideration of this item.

Council considered the report of the chief executive on the designation of Simon Hewings, 
interim head of finance, as the council’s section 151 chief finance officer.

The Chairman on behalf of Council congratulated Simon Hewings on his appointment as 
interim head of finance and section 151 officer.

RESOLVED: to
1. designate Simon Hewings, the interim Head of Finance, as the council’s section 151 

chief finance officer from 23 December 2019;

2. authorise the head of legal and democratic to make any consequential changes 
required to the council’s constitution to reflect this change.

47 Report of the leader of the council 

Councillor Sue Cooper, Leader of the council, addressed Council. The text of her report is 
available on the council’s website.

48 Questions on notice 

1. Question from Councillor Ken Arlett to Councillor David Rouane, Cabinet member for 
housing and environment 

How many vehicles/drivers have been caught feeding the meters for over three hours, in 
both the Kings Road and Greys Road car parks in Henley over the past three months?

Answer
If car park inspectors spot meter feeding they issue an excess charge notice for the expiry 
of the first ticket.  However, we do not hold records regarding the specific reason for 
issuing excess charge notices (ECNs) and therefore we are not able to say what 
proportion relates to meter feeding.  Some drivers are very astute and remove any trace of 
previous tickets from their vehicles.  We are aware that this can happen and our car park 
inspectors are doing their best to monitor the situation.   However, drivers are allowed to 

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/news/2019/2019-12/leaders-report-19-december-2019
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/news/2019/2019-12/leaders-report-19-december-2019


4

move from Kings Road to Greys Road without penalty as the current parking order allows 
this.

The car park contract manager has provided the below data on ECNs:

For overstay/expired ticket we have issued the following between 1 September 2019 to 30 
November 2019

Greys Road   92
Kings Road   45
Southfields    2
Supplementary question

In response to a supplementary question regarding the roll out of updated ticket machines 
(see minute 34(9) of October 2019 Council minutes) the Cabinet member responded that 
there was no further detail available.

2.  Question from Councillor Ken Arlett to Councillor David Rouane, Cabinet member for 
housing and environment 

Since the reduction of car park spaces in the Kings Road Car Park and the closure of one 
of the two entrances, what has been the loss on revenue since April?

Answer
There has been no loss of revenue since April 2019 and we are monitoring this situation 
carefully.   There is an arrangement in place which means that Murphy’s pay for the 
spaces they are using.

Supplementary question
In response to a supplementary question, the Cabinet member undertook to provide 
details of the precise revenue figures over the past 6 months for 2019 and 2018 in writing.

3. Question from Councillor Ken Arlett to Councillor David Rouane, Cabinet member for 
housing and environment 

Is it correct that takings from all town/parish council car parks are not kept separately?

Answer
For clarification this response relates to car parks in towns that are managed by the 
councils and monitored by Saba.  We do not monitor the town/parish council car parks.  
The Council accounts for income from all its car parks together within its budgets so does 
not separate income for the different car parks.  However, we are able to interrogate and 
analyse the ticket sale data and income recorded by Saba for each individual car park if 
required.

Supplementary question
In response to a supplementary question, the Cabinet member referred to his previous 
answer in which he stated that income details for each individual car park could be 
provided. 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 2



5

4.   Question from Councillor Ken Arlett to Councillor Sue Cooper, Leader of the council 

Can the leader of the council confirm that the following issues will be considered by the 
constitution review working group?
 

·    to allow local ward councillors to take part in the debate and vote at planning 
committee meetings 

·    to reduce public speaking time for each group of speakers to 3 minutes at planning 
committee meetings. 

·    to allow planning committee members to only ask one question per application to 
speakers, and one question to officers.

 
Answer
I have previously confirmed in a written response to a question, submitted at the July 
Council meeting, that the issue of local ward councillors taking part in the debate and vote 
on planning applications in their ward at planning committee meetings will be considered 
as part of the review. I have spoken to officers who have also confirmed that the other 
issues you have raised for review will also be considered. 

Supplementary question
In response to a supplementary question the leader of the council confirmed that each 
political group would be represented on the constitution review task group and that 
councillors would have the opportunity to raise issues with the recommendations coming 
to Council for consideration and agreement.

49 Motions on notice 

1. Motion proposed by Councillor Robin Bennett, seconded by Councillor David 
Rouane as set out in the agenda at agenda item 13(1)

After debate and on being put to the vote the motion was agreed.

RESOLVED:
That Council notes that South Oxfordshire District Council’s current position is support for 
an Oxfordshire County Unitary; in March 2017 this council voted to support ‘Better 
Oxfordshire’, a proposal to create a unitary authority. 

The approach of ‘Better Oxfordshire’ was for a single unitary authority based on the 
current County Council boundary. Oxfordshire County Council and Vale of the White 
Horse District Council also took formal decisions to support the proposal. 

The proposal was submitted to the Secretary of State for approval under legislative 
provisions containing a sunset clause, which expired in March of 2019, meaning that at 
this time the proposal is not under active consideration.

Government’s current stated intention, according to recent statements by Robert Jenrick, 
in his role as Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, is to 
move away from smaller district councils and towards Unitary and/or Combined Authority 
models of Governance.

Page 15

Agenda Item 2



6

Council recognises that:

Democratic institutions should be responsive and accountable to their electorate as well as 
being efficient and achieving value for money for their services.  South Oxfordshire District 
Council’s status enables a close connection to residents and communities, especially with 
regard to planning, and it is a democratically accountable body with the powers and 
resources to work with other organisations and deliver services in ways that more distant 
organisations cannot.  

Therefore, any future move towards Unitary status should be on the basis of the smallest 
viable geography that enables a similarly close link to communities and should not prevent 
independent candidates and smaller political parties competing for seats alongside the 
major political parties.

Should such structural change occur in the future, in addition to securing increased value 
for money in service delivery, it must also aim to increase, not reduce, localised 
accountability for service provision and resource allocation, and should support the 
devolution of power to the lowest sustainable level.

Council therefore confirms that:

A. It recognises that much of the financial and economic data and analysis that 
underpinned the ‘Better Oxfordshire’ submission is now out of date; and

B. Due to an absence of up to date analysis, South Oxfordshire District Council can no 
longer support a view that a County-wide single Unitary currently represents the best 
governance model for Oxfordshire: and proposes that: 

i. Officers explore alternative governance approaches that protect, and enhance, 
the democratic link to local communities, to assist council in taking a new, 
updated view;

 
ii. As part of this, officers should make contact with the MHCLG to explore the 

approach the new Secretary of State will take to any proposals for unitary based 
re-organisation; and asks that

 
iii. A report on this matter is brought to full Council, by the Chief Executive and 

Leader, outlining their understanding of the new Government’s intentions and 
possible approaches available to this council, by Summer 2020.

iv. A cross party ‘governance model’ working group is formed to support the 
Council’s review of this area; and notes that

v. Should any revised unitary proposal be developed in future, the Constitution 
Review Group will be asked to recommend appropriate constitutional models for 
consideration by Council.

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 2



7

2. Motion proposed by Councillor Robin Bennett, seconded by Councillor Sue 
Roberts as set out in the agenda at agenda item 13(2)

The mover and seconder of the motion accepted an amendment moved by Councillor 
Caroline Newton to add the words “housing and employment” after all in the second 
paragraph of the motion.

After debate and on being put to the vote the motion was agreed.

RESOLVED:
That Council notes the continuing development of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 – a joint 
statutory spatial plan based on the boundary of the County.   

Council sees merit in regional - and county - scale planning for biodiversity and 
environmental sustainability matters, such as  “nature recovery networks”, as well as for 
public transport infrastructure, but considers that all housing and employment allocations 
(including strategic sites), planning policies and other related matters continue to be best 
dealt with at the local district planning authority level, and should not form part of the 
Oxfordshire 2050 plan.

Council therefore asks:

That officers and any councillor representing the council ensure this position is reflected in 
all engagement with, and contributions to, the Oxfordshire 2050 plan making process, and 
that the Council’s position is made known, and emphasised, to key partners and 
Government.

3. With the agreement of Council, Councillor Sue Cooper moved and Councillor 
Andrea Powell seconded, the altered motion set out below with the additional 
wording shown in bold

Recognising the financial position of the Council, and the need to ensure that residents are 
represented by a robust and sustainable council, officers are asked to bring forward 
proposals for South Oxfordshire District Council to consider whether or not a formal 
merger with the Vale of White Horse District Council, with the same total number of district 
councillors, creating a single district council based on their combined geography with 
increased financial resilience would be beneficial. This work should also consider the 
options for the development of area committees within this model, to ensure that decision 
making is devolved to the lowest appropriate level. 

Should any formal merger proposal be developed in future, the Constitution Review Group 
will be asked to recommend appropriate constitutional models for consideration by 
Council.
Further, in recognition of the recent General Election and the fact that Local Government 
finance has been cut by nearly 50% in the last 10 years, with funding often short term in 
scope and tied to national government goals, Council requests the Leader in the first 
instance to:

 Write to the Minister for Housing, Communities and Local Government and the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer to urge that a Local Government Financial settlement 
is devised as a matter of the utmost urgency that is sufficient to give stability to all 

Page 17

Agenda Item 2



8

councils across the Country and will support the ability of local councils to make 
decisions on their statutory duties in line with their local elected mandate. 

After debate and on being put to the vote the motion was agreed.

RESOLVED:
That recognising the financial position of the Council, and the need to ensure that 
residents are represented by a robust and sustainable council, officers are asked to bring 
forward proposals for South Oxfordshire District Council to consider whether or not a 
formal merger with the Vale of White Horse District Council, with the same total number of 
district councillors, creating a single district council based on their combined geography 
with increased financial resilience would be beneficial. This work should also consider the 
options for the development of area committees within this model, to ensure that decision 
making is devolved to the lowest appropriate level. 

Should any formal merger proposal be developed in future, the Constitution Review Group 
will be asked to recommend appropriate constitutional models for consideration by 
Council.
Further, in recognition of the recent General Election and the fact that Local Government 
finance has been cut by nearly 50% in the last 10 years, with funding often short term in 
scope and tied to national government goals, Council requests the Leader in the first 
instance to:

 Write to the Minister for Housing, Communities and Local Government and the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer to urge that a Local Government Financial settlement 
is devised as a matter of the utmost urgency that is sufficient to give stability to all 
councils across the Country and will support the ability of local councils to make 
decisions on their statutory duties in line with their local elected mandate. 

4. Motion proposed by Councillor Sue Cooper, seconded by Councillor Maggie 
Filipova-Rivers as set out in the agenda at agenda item 13(4)

After debate and on being put to the vote the motion was agreed.

RESOLVED:
That Council:
1. Believes that young people should be allowed a say over their future.
2. Recognises that 16 and 17 year olds are knowledgeable and passionate about the 
world in which they live and are as capable of engaging in the democratic system as any 
other citizen.
3. Notes that there is currently an unequal situation across the United Kingdom, with 16 
and 17 year olds having voting rights in Scotland and Wales that are not available to them 
in England and Northern Ireland.
4. Supports the need for greater engagement with young people, leading to greater 
involvement of young people in the decisions that affect their community.
5. Believes that lowering the voting age to 16, combined with strong citizenship education, 
would empower young people to better engage in society and influence decisions that will 
define their future.
6. Believes that people aged 16 and 17, who can consent to medical treatment, work full-
time, pay taxes, get married or enter a civil partnership and join the armed forces, should 
also have the right to vote.

Page 18

Agenda Item 2



9

7. Recognises and supports the ongoing ‘Votes at 16’ campaign by the British Youth 
Council, the UK Youth Parliament and other youth organisations, supported by thousands 
of young people across the UK.
8. Calls for 16 and 17 year olds to have the right in all elections and referendums across 
the UK.

Council therefore: 
1. Requests that the Leader write to relevant Ministers and local MPs: expressing this 
Council’s support for the Votes at 16 campaign; calling for the extension of the franchise to 
16 and 17 year olds in all elections and referendums across the UK
2. Requests that the Leader write to the local MYPs and the British Youth Council 
expressing this Council’s support for the Votes at 16 campaign 
3. Asks the Electoral Registration Officer/ Returning Officer to consider participating in any 
pilot scheme.

5. Councillor Sue Roberts sought the agreement of Council to move an altered 
motion from that set out in the agenda at agenda item 13(5). Following an 
adjournment of the meeting (7.55pm until 8.05pm) Councillor Sue Roberts 
withdrew her motion with the intention of submitting the revised wording to the 
Council meeting in February.   

6. Motion proposed by Councillor Sue Roberts, seconded by Councillor Simon 
Hewerdine as set out in the agenda at agenda item 13(6)

After debate and on being put to the vote the motion was agreed.

RESOLVED:
That Council notes that:
 

 South Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) will be undertaking a constitutional 
review beginning in January 2020. A working group, with representation from all 
political groups, has been set up to conduct this review. 

 Other motions tonight relate to consideration of whether the council should consider 
a merger with Vale of White Horse with whom SODC shares an officer-corps, and 
wider unitary related decisions.

 It should be ensured that the Constitution Review Working Group gets sufficient 
training to enable it to make informed decisions. Training might be required from 
external experts, and information may be required through visits to or from other 
councils. 

This Council agrees that the Constitution Review Working Group will include the following 
topics in its considerations:
 

 Whether there would be a benefit to residents in terms of decision-making, 
representation, and transparency were South Oxfordshire District Council to move 
to a committee-based structure: 

 Whether the Climate Change Advisory Committee should become a Committee of 
Council and what, if any, amendments should be made to its terms of reference; 
and that 

Page 19

Agenda Item 2



10

 Training should be made available to the Constitution Review Working Group and 
to all members on the matters referred to herein. Council asks Cabinet to reflect the 
cost of this in any budget proposals they bring forward.

Prior to the consideration of the following motion Council agreed, in accordance with 
Council procedure rule 12, to extend the meeting for a further 30 minutes. 

7. In the absence of Councillor Sam Casey-Rerhaye, Councillor Andrea Powell 
moved and Councillor Sue Cooper seconded the motion as set out in the 
agenda at agenda item 13 (7)

After debate and on being put to the vote the motion was agreed.

RESOLVED:
That Council notes that:

 Cycling and walking are healthy, climate-friendly modes of transport

 In 2018, of fatalities on the road caused by vehicles crashes, 31% were people 
walking or on pedal cycles

 Many people are put off cycling because of perceived and actual dangers

 Electric bicycles could be a revolution in bringing more people to cycling and cycling 
further

 In a rural district many roads are narrow, winding and without pavements for 
walking

 A number of the towns in the district suffer from poor air quality that have major 
health impacts, particularly for children

 Physical inactivity is a contributor to diseases such as diabetes, heart disease, 
osteoporosis, depression and dementia

 The Council has a goal to achieve a carbon-neutral District by 2030

 Infrastructure needs to be developed rapidly to support more active travel, including 
for electric bicycles, to achieve national and local climate and health goals

 travel habits need changing urgently and that cycling and active travel need be easy 
and safe to be chosen over alternatives

 the Council already has a walking and cycling policy: T7
This Council therefore calls upon the relevant Cabinet members to:
i)  develop a prioritised plan of where new and improved cycle and walking infrastructure is 
needed in the District to contribute to a SATN (Strategic Active Travel Network) and 
actively seek, and support the County to actively seek, capital and revenue funding for 
delivery of it through local and national sources
ii) update planning policy to better achieve active travel outcomes across the district and 
with greater urgency, noting such further policy development is currently unfunded (and is 
subject to Council having planning powers to do this).
iii) work to prioritise active travel in planning policy and use walking and cycling as an 
improvement to urban and rural communities in terms of community cohesion, wellbeing, 
and tackling inequalities

Page 20

Agenda Item 2



11

iv) engage in active travel promotion with relevant partners to encourage travel behaviour 
change
v) urge the County Council to prioritise quality control of all active travel infrastructure in 
accordance with the Oxfordshire Cycling Design Standards, ensuring all proposals are 
audited for safety and encouragement of active travel.

50 Exclusion of the public 

RESOLVED: to exclude members of the press and public from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Part 1 of Schedule 12A Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006 on the grounds that: 
i. it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and
ii. the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information.

51 Confidential Minutes 

RESOLVED: to approve the confidential minutes of the meeting held on 10 
October 2019 as a correct record and agree that the Chairman sign them as 
such.

The meeting closed at 8:40pm 

Chairman Date

Page 21

Agenda Item 2



Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee
Report of Interim Head of Finance

Author: Jelena Peet/Simon Hewings
Telephone: 01749 341260/01235 422499
E-mail: treasury@southandvale.gov.uk

Simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor David Turner
Telephone: 01865 891169
E-mail:  david.turner@southoxon.gov.uk

VWHDC cabinet member responsible:  Councillor Andrew Crawford
Telephone: 01235 772134
E-mail:  andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee; Cabinet; Council
DATE: 27 January by Joint Audit and Governance Committee

30 January (S) / 31 January (V) by Cabinet 
13 February (S) / 12 February (V) by Council 

Treasury management mid-year monitoring 
report 2019/20

Recommendations

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee:

1. notes the treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2019/20.
2. is satisfied that the treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the 

treasury management strategy and policy.
3. Supports the changes to the South counterparty limits identified in paragraphs 

21 and 22 of this report

That Cabinet:

4. considers any comments from Joint Audit and Governance Committee and       
recommends council to approve the report.

5. (South only) recommends Council to agree the changes to the counterparty 
limits identified in paragraphs 21 and 22 of this report

Purpose of report

1. The report fulfils the legislative requirements to ensure the adequate monitoring of the 
treasury management activities and that each council’s prudential indicators are 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7

mailto:treasury@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:Simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:david.turner@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:andy.crawford@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


reported to their respective council mid-year (i.e.: as at 30 September).  The report 
provides details of the treasury activities for the first six months of 2019/20 and an 
update on the current economic conditions with a view to the remainder of the year.

Strategic objectives 

2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury management 
strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver its services and 
meet the council’s strategic objectives.

Background

Treasury management

3. This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (revised 2017).

4. The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which 
sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management 
activities.

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives.

 Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-Year Review Report and an Annual 
Report, (stewardship report), covering activities during the previous year.

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring 
treasury management policies and practices and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions.

5. This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management, and covers the following:

 An economic update for the first part of the 2019/20 financial year;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy;
 A review of the Councils’ investment portfolio for 2019/20;
 A review of the Councils’ borrowing strategy for 2019/20;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2019/20.

6. The first main function of the treasury management service is to ensure the councils’ 
cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising 
investment return. The Treasury Management Strategy determines to whom the 
council can lend, and this is the manifestation of its risk appetite.

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



7. The second main function of the treasury management service is to ensure funding 
for the Councils’ capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure the 
Councils can meet their capital spending operations. This management of longer term 
cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer term cash flow 
surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
risk or cost objectives. 

8. Accordingly, treasury management is defined as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash 
flows, its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective 
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.”

9. The 2019/20 treasury management strategy was approved by each council in 
February 2019.  This report summarises the treasury activity and performance for the 
first six months of 2019/20 against those prudential indicators and benchmarks set for 
the year.  It also provides an opportunity to review and subsequently revise limits if 
required.  Full council is required to approve this report and any amendments to the 
Treasury Management Strategy.

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



Treasury activity

10. The mid-year performance of the two councils is summarised in the tables below1.  

 

South
Treasury 

investments

 £000

Non 
treasury 

loan 
£000

Sub Total

 £000

Property 
investment 

£000

Overall 
total 

£000
1 Average investment balance 147,014 15,000 162,014 7,838 169,852 
2 Budgeted investment income 781 311 1,092 
3 Actual investment income 1,139 309 1,448 46 1,494 
4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 358 (2) 356 
5 Annualised rate of return 1.55% 4.12% 1.79% 1.17% 1.76%

 

Vale Treasury 
investments 

£000

Property 
investment 

£000

Overall total

 £000
1 Average investment balance 71,760 5,683 77,443 
2 Budgeted investment income 381 
3 Actual investment income 577 107 684 
4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 196 
5 Annualised rate of return 1.61% 3.77% 1.77%

  For property, the balance shown is the fair value of investment properties as at 31 March 2019.

11. The forecast outturn position as at September 2019, based on known investments 
and maturities and an estimate for future earnings is shown in the table below:

 
South Oxfordshire 

District Council
Vale of White Horse 

District Council
 Annual budget as per MTFP £2,806,660 £762,124
 Forecast outturn £3,115,529 £1,042,687
 Variance against budget £308,869 £280,563
 Borrowing Nil Nil

12. The Councils remain restricted regarding financial institutions meeting their 
investment criteria.  When it is possible, investments will be placed with highly rated 
institutions for a longer duration with a view to increasing the weighted average 
maturity of the portfolio, but this has meant that overall there are less suitable 
counterparties available to the councils to deposit with.

13. SODC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 
above budget by £308,869. This is due to higher than budgeted cash balances, and 
also the placing of more longer-term investments which earn higher interest rates. 

14. VWHDC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 
above budget by £280,563. This is for the same reasons as for SODC above.

Performance measurement

15. A list of investments as at 30 September is shown in Appendices A1 and A2.  

16. The councils’ performance against benchmarks for the first six months of the year are 
detailed in Appendices A3 and A4.  All benchmarks have been achieved except the 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



long-term CCLA benchmarks which measure performance from the investment date 
rather than performance in the year.  Performance for the year to date of 4.35 per 
cent is higher that the short-term benchmark of 4.27 per cent.   

17. All investments set up on Vale were with approved counterparties. The average 
return on these investments is shown above in the table at paragraph 5.  South has 
performed better than Vale because it holds more long-term loans at higher rates and 
equities as a result of its larger investment base.

18. At South, it has become apparent that there is a contradiction in the counter-party 
limits.  One investment has been made in breach of the counterparty limits.  It was 
made with a “A” rated organisation for two years, whereas the maximum maturity 
period for such an institution is one year.  However, in practice the limit for an “A” 
rated institution should be longer than for an “A-“ rated institution (as an A rated 
institution is stronger than an A- rated institution).  

19. The current limits for such counterparties as agreed are shown below.   

 
Minimum Fitch Long term 
Rating (or equivalent) Counterparty Limit £m

Max. maturity 
period

Counterparty    
Institutions with a minimum rating: F1 / A- £15.0m 2 years
Institutions with a minimum rating: F1 / A £15.0m 1 year

20. In practice this is wrong way round and it should be:

 
Minimum Fitch Long term 
Rating (or equivalent) Counterparty Limit £m

Max. maturity 
period

Counterparty    
Institutions with a minimum rating: F1 / A £15.0m 2 years
Institutions with a minimum rating: F1 / A- £15.0m 1 year

21. It is therefore recommended that South Council approve this change to the 
counterparty list.

22. The investment in question also made to a housing association which breached a 
separate limit set for housing associations which require any investment to be with an 
organisation rated at least A+.  Officers feel that this separate limit is not required and 
also recommend to South Council that this limit is deleted from the counter party list.

Treasury management limits on activity

23. Each council is required by the Prudential Code to report on the limits set each year 
in their respective Treasury Management Strategies.  The purpose of these limits is to 
ensure that the activity of the treasury functions remain within certain parameters, 
thereby mitigating risk and reducing the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these limits are set to be too restrictive they will impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance.  The performance against the 
limits for both councils are shown in appendices B1 and B2.

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



Debt activity during 2019/20

24. During the first six months of 2019/20 there has been no need for either of the 
councils to borrow.  The Interim Head of Finance will continue to take a prudent 
approach to the councils’ debt strategies.  The prudential indicators and limits set out 
in appendices B1 and B2 provide the scope and flexibility for either of the councils to 
borrow in the short-term up to the maximum limits, if ever such a need arose within 
the cash flow management activities of the authority in order to achieve its service 
objectives.

Interest Rate Forecast and Economic Forecast 

25. The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
forecast:

Quoted from link Asset Services December 2019

26. It has been little surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has left Bank Rate 
unchanged at 0.75 per cent so far in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty over Brexit.  
In its meeting on 1 August, the MPC became more concerned about the outlook for 
both the global and domestic economies. That’s shown in the policy statement, based 
on an assumption that there is an agreed deal on Brexit, where the suggestion that 
rates would need to rise at a “gradual pace and to a limited extent” is now also 
conditional on “some recovery in global growth”. 

27. Brexit uncertainty has had a dampening effect on UK GDP growth in 2019, especially 
around mid-year. If there were a no deal Brexit, then it is likely that there will be a cut 
or cuts in Bank Rate to help support economic growth. 

28. The September MPC meeting sounded even more concern about world growth and the 
effect that prolonged Brexit uncertainty is likely to have on growth.

. 
Financial Implications

29. These are covered in the body of the report.

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



Legal implications

30. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in this    
report.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance provides 
assurance that the council’s investments are, and will continue to be, within its legal 
powers.

Administration

31. Capita provide the Treasury Management services through its financial accounting 
team based in Shepton Mallet. The council still authorise daily dealings and receive 
regular reports from the team on current and future investments. 

Conclusion

32. This report provides details of the treasury management activities for the period 1 
April 2019 to 30 September 2019 and the mid-year prudential indicators to each 
respective council. 

33. Other than for one incident at South, Treasury activities at both councils have 
operated within the agreed parameters set out in their respective approved treasury 
management strategies.

34. This report also provides the monitoring information for joint audit and governance 
committee to fulfil its role of scrutinising treasury management activity at each 
council.

Background papers

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017
 CIPFA Prudential Code 2017
 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2018
 CIPFA statement 17.10.18 on borrowing in advance of need and investments in 

commercial properties
 CIPFA Bulletin 02 Treasury and Capital Management Update October 2018
 Statutory investment guidance where it has been updated in 2018 (English local 

authorities)
 Statutory MRP guidance where it has been updated in 2018 (English local authorities)
 Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2019/20 (South Oxfordshire & Vale of 

White Horse, February 2019)

Appendices

A1 – SODC List of investments as at 30 September 2019
A2 – VWHDC List of investments as at 30 September 2019
A3 – SODC Performance against benchmark
A4 – VWHDC Performance against benchmark
B1 – SODC Prudential Indicators
B2 – VWHDC Prudential Indicators
C1 – Note on Prudential Indicators

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A1

A1 – 1

South Oxfordshire

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A1

A1 – 1

South Oxfordshire Continued

*  Rates are variable.  Returns shown represent prevailing rates at end Q2 2019.
** Above figures exclude balance outstanding from Kaupthing Singer and Friedlander and SOHA loan
***Last year total investments: £152 million

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A2

A2 – 1

Vale of White Horse District Council

*Last year total investments: £83 million 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A3

A3 – 1

South Oxfordshire District Council

Investment returns achieved against benchmark   

  
Benchmark 

Return
Actual 
Return

Growth 
(Below)/above 

Benchmark Benchmarks
      
Bank & Building Society deposits - 
internally managed  0.63% 1.55% 0.92% 3 Month LIBID
Equities  2.34% 5.88% 3.54% FTSE All Shares Index
      

 All benchmarks managed by the treasury team were met in the first six months of the 
year.  

CCLA

 The CCLA investment is a long term holding.  The above table shows the performance of 
the fund as a whole and the longer term performance should be used as a guide to 
returns achievable in the medium term.

 South invested £5 million into the fund and in the first six months of 2019/20, achieved a 
return of 4.35 per cent calculated as a ratio of income over the market value held as at 30 
September 2019.  This is not the same basis upon which the performance of the fund 
above is calculated. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



Appendix A4

2

Vale of White Horse District Council

Investment returns achieved against benchmark   
 Benchmark 

return
Actual return Growth 

(below)/above 
benchmark

Benchmarks

 % % %  
Internally managed - Bank 
& Building Society deposits 0.63% 1.61% 0.98%

3 month LIBID

     

 All benchmarks managed by the treasury team were met in the first six months of 
the year.  

CCLA

 The CCLA investment is a long term holding.  The above table shows the 
performance of the fund as a whole and the longer-term performance should be 
used as a guide to returns achievable in the medium term.

 Vale invested £2 million into the fund and in the first six months of 2019/20, 
achieved a return of 4.35 per cent calculated as a ratio of income over the market 
value held as at 30 September 2019.  This is not the same basis upon which the 
performance of the fund above is calculated.

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



Appendix B1

B1 - 1

South Oxfordshire District Council

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



Appendix B2

B2 - 1

Vale of White Horse District Council

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



Appendix C1

C1 - 1

Prudential indicators – explanatory note

Debt

There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with 
approved treasury management policy statement and practices.  They are both based 
on estimates of most likely, but not worst case scenario.  

The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached without prior 
approval of the Council.  It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash 
flows.  

The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position.

Interest rate exposures

The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to fixed/variable 
rate of interest.

Investments

Interest rate exposure

The purpose of these indicators is to set ranges that will limit exposure to interest rate 
movement. The indicator required by the Treasury Management Code considers the 
net position of borrowing and investment and is based on principal sums outstanding.

Principal sums invested

This indicator sets a limit on the level of investments that can be made for more than 
364 days.

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategy 2020/21 

Recommendations

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee approves each of the following key 
elements of this report, and recommends these to Cabinet:

1. To approve the treasury management strategy 2020/21 set out in appendix A 
to
this report;

2. To approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2020/21 to 2022/23 as set 
out in, appendix A.

3. To approve the annual investment strategy 2020/21 set out in appendix A, 
(paragraphs 40 to 81) and the lending criteria detailed in table 5. 

That Cabinet considers any comments from committee and recommends Council to 
approve report.

Report to:

Joint Audit and Governance Committee
Cabinet
Council
Report of Interim Head of Finance
Author: Jelena Peet/Simon Hewings
Telephone:  01749 341260/01235 422499
E-mail: treasury@southandvale.gov.uk
Simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk

Cabinet member responsible:   Councillor David Turner
Telephone: 01865 891169
E-mail:  david.turner@southoxon.gov.uk

To: JOINT AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE on 27 January 2020
CABINET on              30 January 2020
COUNCIL on              13 February 2020

Page 37

Agenda Item 8

mailto:treasury@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:david.turner@southoxon.gov.uk


Purpose of report

1. This report presents the council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) for
2020/21. This sets out how the council’s treasury service will support financing of 
capital investment decisions, and how treasury management operates day to day. It 
sets out the limitations on treasury management activity informed by the prudential 
indicators, within which the council’s treasury function must operate. The strategy is 
included as appendix A to the report. This report includes the three elements 
required by legislation as follows:

 The prudential indicators required by the CIPFA Prudential Code 2017 for
Capital Finance in Local Authorities and CIPFA TM code of Practice 2017;

 The annual investment strategy. This sets out the council’s criteria for
selecting counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss on its
investments.

 A statutory duty to approve a minimum revenue provision policy statement. 
(appendix A, paragraph 15-19).

It is a requirement of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 that 
this report is approved by full Council on an annual basis.

Strategic objectives

2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury
management strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver its 
services and meet the council’s strategic objectives.

Background

3. Treasury management is the planning of the council’s cash flows, its banking,
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks.

4. The funding of the council’s capital expenditure is also a function of treasury
management. The capital programme provides a guide to the funding needs of the 
council and informs long-term cash flow plans to ensure that the council can meet its 
capital spending obligations.

5. Treasury investments are effectively what the council does with its cash resources 
before it is spent on the provision of services and the funding of the capital 
programme. All expenditure of a capital nature is managed through the council’s 
capital programme and is not covered by this report.

6. The treasury management and annual investment strategy set out the council’s
policies for managing investments and confirms the council gives priority to the
security and liquidity of those investments. It also includes the prudential indicators 
for the next three years; these demonstrate that the council’s capital investment 
plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable.

Page 38

Agenda Item 8



7. The council’s treasury management strategy 2020/21 is attached in
appendix A. Whilst every attempt has been made to minimise the technical content 
of this report, it is, by its very nature and the need for compliance with associated 
guidance, technical in parts. A glossary of terms in appendix G should aid members 
understanding of some technical terms used in the report.

8. The last significant review by CIPFA of its ‘Prudential code’ and the ‘Treasury 
Management Code of Practice’ was in 2017 and the necessary changes to our TMS 
were made last year.

Recommended changes to the treasury management strategy

9. Council approved the 2019/20 treasury management strategy on 14 February 2019. 
The proposed strategy for 2020/21 has no significant changes compared to previous 
year. 

Financial implications and risk assessment

10.This report and all associated policies and strategies set out clearly the parameters 
the council must work within. It is important that the council follows the approved 
treasury management strategy which is designed to help protect the council’s 
finances by managing its risk exposure.
 

11.Base rates last rose in August 2018 from 0.5 per cent to 0.75 per cent. This was the 
first increase in Bank Rate above 0.5 per cent since the financial crash of 2008

12.Link Asset Services forecast that the bank base rate will not increase before March 
2021, followed by increases in June 2022, before ending up at 1.25 per cent in 
March 2023. Quoted from link Asset Services December 2019

13.The table below gives an estimate of the investment income achievable for the next 
five years; 

Table 1: Medium term investment income forecast    
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
 £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
  
Forecast as at December 2019 2,583 2,365 2,508 2,505 2,439
        

The 2020/21 budget setting report and medium term financial plan will take into
account the latest projections of anticipated investment income. 

Legal implications

14.There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in this 
report. Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
the Public Services, the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance provides 
assurance that the council’s investments are, and will continue to be, within its legal 
powers.

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



15.The council must approve any amendment to the treasury management strategy 
and annual investment strategy in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 
(the Act), the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under Section 15(1) 
(a) Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance.

Conclusion

16.This report introduces the treasury management strategy and the annual investment 
strategy for 2020/21 which are appended to this report, together with the prudential 
indicators for approval to council. These documents provide the parameters within 
which the council’s treasury management function will operate.

Background papers

 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017
 CIPFA Prudential Code 2017
 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Guidance Notes 2018
 CIPFA statement 17.10.18 on borrowing in advance of need and investments in 

commercial properties
 CIPFA Bulletin 02 Treasury and Capital Management Update October 2018
 Statutory Guidance on Local Government Investments (3rd Edition) 
 Statutory Guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision

Appendices

Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21
Appendix B Economic Background 
Appendix C Risk and performance benchmarking
Appendix D Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators
Appendix E TMP1 extract
Appendix F Extension to the responsibilities of the S151 officer
Appendix G Glossary of terms

Page 40

Agenda Item 8



Appendix A

Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21

Introduction

1. The first main function of the treasury management services is to ensure the 
council’s cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available when it is 
needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity 
initially before considering investment return. The second main function of the 
treasury management service is the funding of the council’s capital plans.  

2. Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities.

3. CIPFA defines treasury management as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”

4. Revised reporting was required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) Investment 
Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code and 
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.  The primary reporting changes included 
the introduction of a capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital 
plans, and greater reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity 
undertaken under the Localism Act 2011.  The capital strategy is reported 
separately.

Treasury Management reporting
5. The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 

treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and 
actuals.  
a) Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first, 

and most important report is forward looking and covers:
 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators);
 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital 

expenditure is charged to revenue over time);
 the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and borrowings 

are managed), including treasury indicators; and 
 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how investments are to be 

managed).

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



b) A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report and 
will update members on the mid-year treasury performance, amending prudential 
indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision.

c) An annual treasury report – This report reviews performance for the previous 
financial year and provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury 
indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within the 
strategy.

Scrutiny
6. The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 

recommended to the Council. This role is undertaken by the Joint Audit and 
Governance Committee.

Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21

7. The strategy for 2020/21 covers the areas below:
 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators;
 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy.
 the current treasury position;
 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council;
 prospects for interest rates;
 the borrowing strategy;
 policy on borrowing in advance of need;
 debt rescheduling;
 the investment strategy;
 creditworthiness policy; and
 the policy on use of external service providers.

8. These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003 (the 
Act), the CIPFA Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and MHCLG Investment Guidance.

Councillor and officer training

9. The CIPFA Code requires the Interim Head of Finance to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management. This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny. The 
training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed. 

10.Capita have been contracted to undertake the Treasury Management function since 
beginning of August 2016.  The service is carried out by the financial accounting 
team which are based in Shepton Mallet. The council still authorise daily dealings 
and receive regular reports from the team on current and future investments. 

Capital Prudential Indicators

11.The Council’s capital expenditure plans (as detailed in the council’s capital 
programme) are a key driver of treasury management activity. The output of the 
capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential indicators, which are designed 
to assist members’ overview and confirm capital expenditure plans. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 8



Treasury management advisors

12.The Council uses Link Asset Services, Treasury solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors.

13.The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon the services of our external service providers. All decisions will be 
undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not solely, our 
treasury advisors.

14. It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills, knowledge and 
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the 
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented 
and subjected to regular review. 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement 2020/21

15.The council’s current capital programme will primarily be financed from internal 
resources. If borrowing is undertaken, then the council will be required by statute to 
set aside funds in the annual revenue budget to amortise the principal element of 
any borrowing – this is the MRP. There will also be a requirement to set aside 
revenue budget for the interest payments on any borrowing raised. Loans will 
generally be taken over the life of the assets being financed and amortised 
accordingly. 

16.The council is required by regulation to approve an annual MRP policy before the 
start of the year to which it relates. Any in-year changes must also be submitted to 
the council for approval.

17.A variety of options are provided to councils for the calculation of MRP. The council 
has chosen the “asset life method” as being most appropriate. Using this method 
MRP will be based on the estimated life of the asset, in accordance with the 
regulations (this option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a 
Capitalisation Direction). Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are 
applied as MRP.

18.Currently, the council’s MRP liability is nil. This will remain the case unless capital 
expenditure is financed by external or internal borrowing.

19.The Interim Head of Finance will determine the most appropriate repayment 
method, term of borrowing and duration of borrowing. As a general illustration, Table 
1 below gives an example of the annual revenue costs associated with borrowing an 
amount of £2.5 million over a 50-year period, based on the current district tax base 
of 57,849 Band D equivalents:

Table 2: Example MRP and interest calculation
  
Loan Amount £2,500,000  
  
Loan Duration 50 Years  
  
PWLB Interest 3.38%  

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



   
2020/21 Tax Base        57,849  
  
  
 £ £ per Band D
MRP Element £50,000  0.86
  
Annual Interest Cost £84,375  1.46
Total  £134,375  2.32

Prospects for interest rate forecast and economic rate forecasts

20.The following table gives Link Asset Services central view on expected interest rate 
movements out to March 2023.  It should be read alongside the commentary 
provided below.

Quoted by link Asset Services December 2019

21. It has been little surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has left Bank 
Rate unchanged at 0.75% so far in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty over Brexit.  
In its meeting on 1 August, the MPC became more concerned about the outlook for 
both the global and domestic economies. That’s shown in the policy statement, 
based on an assumption that there is an agreed deal on Brexit, where the 
suggestion that rates would need to rise at a “gradual pace and to a limited extent” 
is now also conditional on “some recovery in global growth”. 

22.Brexit uncertainty has had a dampening effect on UK GDP growth in 2019, 
especially around mid-year. If there were a no deal Brexit, then it is likely that there 
will be a cut or cuts in Bank Rate to help support economic growth. 

23.The September MPC meeting sounded even more concern about world growth and 
the effect that prolonged Brexit uncertainty is likely to have on growth.

24.The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, to 
rise, albeit gently.  From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be 
subject to exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, 
emerging market developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such 
volatility could occur at any time during the forecast period. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 8



25. In addition, PWLB rates are subject to ad hoc decisions by H.M. Treasury to change 
the margin over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates: such changes could be up or 
down. It is not clear that if gilt yields were to rise back up again by over 100bps 
within the next year or so, whether H M Treasury would remove the extra 100 bps 
margin implemented on 9.10.19.

26.Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external 
influences weighing on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be 
liable to further amendment depending on how economic data and developments in 
financial markets transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially 
in the EU, could also have a major impact. Forecasts for average investment 
earnings beyond the three-year time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic 
and political developments. 

Treasury Limits for 2020/21 to 2022/23

27. It is a statutory duty, under Section 3 of the Act and supporting regulations for the 
council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to borrow. The 
amount so determined is called the “Affordable Borrowing Limit”. The Authorised 
Limit is the legislative limit specified in the Act.

28.The council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the Authorised 
Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital expenditure remains 
within sustainable limits and, that the impact upon its future council tax is 
‘acceptable’.

29.The Authorised Limit is set on a rolling basis, for the forthcoming financial year and 
two successive financial years.

30.The following indicators set the parameters within which we manage the overall 
capital investment and treasury management functions. There are specific treasury 
activity limits, which aim to contain the activity of the treasury function in order to 
manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in interest rates. 
However, if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair the opportunities to 
reduce costs/improve performance. The limits are set out in table 2 below.

Cabinet is asked to recommend council to approve the limits:

Table 3: Prudential indicators      
 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 Approved Estimate Estimate Estimate
Debt £m £m £m £m
Authorised limit for external debt  
Borrowing 30 30 30 30
Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
 30 30 30 30
Operational boundary for external debt  
Borrowing 25 25 25 25

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0
 25 25 25 25
Interest rate exposures  
Maximum fixed rate borrowing 100% 100% 100% 100%
Maximum variable rate borrowing 100% 100% 100% 100%
  
Investments  
Interest rate exposures  
Limits on fixed interest rates 100% 100% 100% 100%
Limits on variable interest rates 50 50 50 50
  
Total principal sums invested for periods 
longer than a year” i.e. +365 days  

Upper limit for principal sums invested +365 days 70 70 70 70
      

Current position

17.The maturity structure of the council’s investments at 30 November 2019 was as 
follows:

Table 4: maturity structure of investments:
 Total £000's % holding  
    
Call                   500 0%  
Money market fund              10,264 6%  
Less than 6 months              49,000 30%  
6 months to 1 year              50,000 31%  
1 year +              34,000 21%  
CCLA - Property Fund                6,831 4%  
Equities              12,775 8%  
Total investments            163,369 100%  

* The figure for total investments shown above excludes the £15 million 20-year loan 
to SOHA
made in 2013/14 and the balance outstanding with Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander 
(KSF).

**£163 million does not represent uncommitted resource the council has at its 
disposal. This amount includes council tax receipts held prior to forwarding to 
Oxfordshire County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner for the 
Thames Valley, business rate receipts prior to payment to the government and 
committed capital and revenue balances. Details of the council’s uncommitted 
balances are provided in the annual budget and council tax setting report.

31.The council holds as above, 88 per cent of its investments in the form of cash
deposits, 82 per cent is invested for fixed terms with a fixed investment return and 6 
per cent on call accounts, with the remainder held in non-cash deposits. Typically, 
the council restricts lending activity to UK institutions and the highest rated 
counterparties

Page 46

Agenda Item 8



32.The council's considerations for investment will remain security, liquidity and yield – 
in that order. Officers undertaking Treasury Management will work towards the 
optimum profile distribution.

Investment performance for the year to 30 November 2019

33.The council’s budgeted investment return for 2019/20 is £2.807 million, and the 
actual interest received to date is shown as follows:

Table 5: Investment interest earned by investment type
 Interest Earned
 Annual Actual Annual Forecast
Investment type Budget to date Forecast Variation
 £000's £000's £000's £000's
  
Fixed term and call cash 1,429 837 1,602 (173)
SOHA 623 312 623 0
CCLA 299 150 299 0
Unit Trusts  456 148 592 (136)
Total interest  2,807 1,447 2,683 (309)

Borrowing Strategy 2020/21

34.The annual treasury management strategy has to set out details of the council’s 
borrowing requirement, any maturing debt which will need to be re-financed, and the 
effect this will have on the treasury position over the next three years. This council 
currently has no external debt and in general, the council will borrow for one of two 
purposes:

 to support cash flow in the short-term;
 To fund capital investment over the medium to long term.

35.Any borrowing undertaken will be within the scope of the boundaries given in the 
prudential indicators shown in Table 2, which allow for the council to borrow up to a 
maximum of £30 million, if such a need arose. This also allows short-term borrowing 
for the cash flow management activities of the authority.

36.The existing capital programme can be financed from internal resources. If 
additional expenditure was committed in the future a decision would have to be 
made at the time as to how it would be funded taking into account the  prudential 
borrowing criteria. Any decision on borrowing will be taken by the Interim Head of 
Finance based on the optimum cost to the council.

37.Any borrowing for capital financing purposes will be assessed by the Head of 
Finance to be prudent, sustainable and affordable

38.This strategy allows the Interim Head of Finance to determine the most suitable 
repayment terms of any borrowing to demonstrate affordability and sustainability in 
the medium term financial plan if required. As a rule, the term of any borrowing will 
not be longer than the expected life of the capital asset being created.

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



Policy on borrowing in advance of need

39.The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to 
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates 
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated 
and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds. 

40.Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism. 

Annual investment strategy 2020/21

41.The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended their definition of ‘investments’ to include 
both financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial 
investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial 
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are covered in the 
Capital Strategy, (a separate report).

42.The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: -

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)
 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 

Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”) 
 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018  

43.The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and 
then yield, (return).

44.The primary aim of the council’s investment strategy is to maintain the security and 
liquidity of its investments; yield or return on the investment will be a secondary
consideration, subject to prudent security and liquidity. The council will ensure:

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments to cover cash flow. For this purpose, 
it has set out parameters for determining the maximum periods for which 
funds may prudently be committed.

 It maintains a policy covering the categories of investment types it will invest 
in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and 
monitoring their security.

45.The strategy aims to provide a high degree of flexibility to take appropriate lending 
decisions, with a view to producing a portfolio with an even spread of maturity 
periods. This aim is to provide a more even and predictable investment return in the 
medium term.

46.The council’s Interim Head of Finance will ensure a counterparty list (a list of named
institutions) is maintained in compliance with the recommended credit rating criteria 
(table 5) and will revise the criteria and submit any changes to the credit rating 
criteria to council for approval as necessary.

Page 48

Agenda Item 8



Investment types

47.The types of investment that the council can use are summarised below. These are 
split under the headings of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ in accordance with the 
statutory guidance.

Specified investment instruments

48.These are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity, or those where 
the council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes. These would 
include sterling investments with:

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF)
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration
 Deposits with UK local authorities
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated)
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A- rated)
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies

(minimum rating as above)

Non-specified investment instruments

49.These are any other type of investment (i.e. investments not defined as specified, 
above). Examples of non-specified investments include any sterling investments 
with:

 Supranational bonds of 1 to 10 years to maturity
 UK treasury stock (Gilts) with a maturity of 1 to 10 years
 Unrated building societies (minimum asset value £1 billion)
 Bank and building society cash deposits up to 5 years (minimum F1/A- rated)
 Deposits with UK local authorities up to 25 years to maturity
 Corporate bonds
 Pooled property, pooled bond funds and UK pooled equity funds
 Diversified Income Fund
 Multi-Asset Fund 
 Ultra-Dated/Short dated bond
 Non-UCITS Retail Schemes (NURS)

Other Non-specified investment instruments. 

50.Other non-specified investment instruments include:

 Fixed term deposits with variable rate and variable maturities

Approach to investing

51.The council holds approximately £111 million core cash balances which are 
available to invest for more than one year. This is expected to reduce over the 
medium term as the approved capital expenditure is incurred and to fund the 
revenue budget shortfall. In addition, the council has funds that are available on a 
temporary basis to invest. These are held pending payment over to another body 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



such as precept payments and council tax. The amount can vary between £5 million 
and £15 million throughout the year and should only be invested short term (under 
one year). Investments will be made with reference to known cash flow 
requirements (liquidity).

52.While rates remain historically low the council will aim to keep investments relatively 
short term but will continue to look for opportunities to fix lending in the medium term 
with highly rated institutions when possible for core cash balances. The aim is to 
increase the weighted average maturity of the portfolio in order to reduce maturity 
risk.

53.Officers will continue to provides tight controls on the investments placed. Where 
possible, opportunities to spread the investment risk over different types of 
instruments will be considered.

54.Should market conditions deteriorate suddenly to the extent that the council is 
unable to place money with institutions with the necessary credit rating, it will make 
use of the UK Government deposit account (DMADF).

55.The council has the authority to lend to other local authorities at market rates. Whilst 
investments with other local authorities are considered to be supported by central 
government, officers will consider the financial viability and sustainability of the 
individual local authority before any funds are advanced.

56.Further investment in property funds will be looked at in more detail for 
consideration. In 2013/14 the council invested £5 million in the Churches Charities 
and Local Authorities pooled property investment fund (CCLA).

57.Money market funds are mainly used for liquidity; they also provide security and 
spread portfolio risk. Officers will always monitor the council’s exposure to these 
funds in order to manage our security risk.

58.Currently the council does not make use of an external fund manager. Whilst there 
are presently no plans for this situation to change, this will continue to be kept under 
review.

59.Bond funds can be used to diversify the portfolio, whilst maintaining an element of 
liquidity and security. These will be considered and reviewed as an investment 
possibility to spread portfolio risk.

60.One option to offer diversification in the council’s investment portfolio would be to 
make use of Ultra Short Dated / Short Dated Bond Funds (USDBF / SDBFs). 
Possible use of such funds would be intended for longer term investments than with 
traditional money market funds (i.e. for possible investment durations of three – six 
months). 

61.Unlike money market funds USDBF/SDBF have a variable net asset value (VNAV). 
This means the assets are ‘marked to market’ (re-valued to current market value) on 
a daily basis and the fund unit price adjusted accordingly. Under this calculation 
basis the unit price fluctuates and could, therefore, be higher or lower than the 
original investment when it is redeemed. Any use of the above funds would be 
restricted to the high-quality counterparty credit criteria as set out in Table 5 below.

Page 50

Agenda Item 8



62.The council does not currently make use of certificates of deposit. Consideration will 
be given to their use to assist diversification of the investment portfolio. Certificates 
of deposit have the same level of ranking and security as ordinary fixed term 
deposits but have the option of being traded before maturity. Certificates of deposit 
are bought and sold on the stock market and their price can go up or down prior to 
their redemption date. If held to maturity the investment will return their issue value. 
The council would only normally look to enter such investments on a held to maturity 
basis.

Counterparty selection

63.Treasury management risk is the risk of loss of capital to the council. To minimise 
this risk, the council uses credit rating information when considering who to lend to. 
Link Asset Services provide the council with credit rating updates from all three 
ratings agencies – Standard & Poors, Fitch and Moodys.

64.The council will not use the approach suggested by CIPFA of using the lowest rating 
from all three rating agencies in evaluating investment opportunity. This is because 
adopting this approach could leave the council with too few counterparties for the 
strategy to be workable. Instead, counterparty investment limits will be set by 
reference to all of the assigned ratings.

65.Where counterparties fail to meet the minimum required criteria (Table 5 below) they 
will be omitted from the counterparty list. Any rating changes and rating watches 
(notification of a rating change under consideration) are provided to officers almost 
immediately after they occur, and this information is considered before any deal is 
entered into. Extreme market movements may result in a downgrade of an institution 
or removal from the council’s lending list.

66.Additional requirements under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code require the 
council to supplement the credit rating data with operational market information such 
as credit default swaps (CDS), negative watches and outlooks, which are 
considered when assessing the security of counterparties. This additional 
information is used so that the council does not rely solely on the current credit 
ratings of counterparties.

67.Where it is felt the council would benefit from utilising government guarantees 
provided by countries with an AAA rating, the council may lend to institutions 
covered by such guarantees. Any decision to lend in this way will be subject to 
consultation with the agreement of the cabinet member responsible for finance.

Country and sector considerations

68.The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties outside the 
UK from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA from Fitch 
Ratings.

Counterparty limits

69. In the normal course of the council’s cash flow operations it is expected that both 
specified and non-specified investments will be used for the control of liquidity as 
both categories allow for short term investments. The use of longer term instruments 
(greater than one year from inception to repayment) will fall in the non-specified 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



investment category. These instruments will be used where the council’s liquidity 
requirements are safeguarded. The council will lend to institutions that meet the 
following criteria:

Table 6: Counterparty Limits
  Counterparty

 Limit
Max. maturity 
period

Maximum % of 
total 
investments

Counterparty

Minimum Fitch 
Long term Rating ( 
or equivalent)

£m   
  
Institutions with a minimum 
rating: F1+ / AA- £15.0m 4 years 25%
Institutions with a minimum 
rating: F1+ / A+ £15.0m 3 years 25%
Institutions with a minimum 
rating: F1 / A £15.0m 2 years 30%
Institutions with a minimum 
rating: F1 / A- £15.0m 1 year 50%
Banks - part nationalised UK UK sovereign £20.0m 4 years 100%
Building societies - assets > £5bn n/a £10.0m 12 months 70%
Building societies - assets > £3bn n/a £8.0m 12 months 60%
Building societies - assets > £1bn n/a £6.0 m 12 months 50%
Building Societies BBB+ £15.0m 12 Months 50%
Local authorities, parish councils n/a £20.0m 25 years 50%
Money Market funds AAA £20.0m liquid 100%
Pooled bond fund F1+/A+ £5.0m Variable 10%
Pooled property fund n/a £10.0m Variable 15%
CCLA Diversified Income Fund n/a £10.0m Variable 15%
Multi - Asset Funds n/a £10.0m Variable 15%
Ultra-Dated/Short dated bonds n/a £10.0m Variable 15%
Property related Investments n/a £30.0m Variable 80%
Corporate Bonds F1+/A+ £5.0m Variable 10%
Non-UCITS Retail Scheme 
(NURS) n/a £5.0m Variable 50%
Managed Bond Funds F1/A- £15.0m Variable 15%
Share capital / Equities (UK) n/a £10.0m Variable 20%
Supranational AAA £10.0m Variable 20%
UK Government - gilts UK sovereign £15.0m 15 years 10%
UK Government - DMADF UK sovereign No limit n/a 100%
UK Government - Treasury Bills  UK sovereign £15.0m 15 years 10%

70.The criteria for choosing counterparties provides a sound approach to investment. 
Whilst councillors are asked to approve the criteria in table 5, under exceptional 
market conditions the interim head of finance may temporarily restrict further 
investment activity to those counterparties considered of higher credit quality than 
the minimum criteria set out for approval.

Fund managers

71.The council does not currently employ any external fund managers. However, in the 
event of such an appointment, appointees will comply with this and subsequent 
treasury strategies. This strategy empowers the Section 151 officer to appoint such 
an external manager to manage a proportion of the council’s investment portfolio if 

Page 52

Agenda Item 8



this is advantageous. Situations in which this might be advantageous include 
benchmarking the performance of the treasury team; benefiting from the often-
extensive credit risk and economic modelling resources of external fund managers 
and resources necessary to hold liquid instruments for trading.

Risk and performance benchmarks

72.A requirement of the Code is that security and liquidity benchmarks are considered 
and approved. This is in addition to yield benchmarks which are used to assess 
performance. The benchmarks are guidelines (not limits) so may be breached 
depending on the movement in interest rates and counterparty criteria. Their 
purpose is to allow officers to monitor the current trend position and amend the 
operational strategy depending on any changes. Any breach of the benchmarks will 
be reported, with an explanation in the mid-year or annual report to audit and 
corporate governance committee. Detailed information for the assessment of risk is 
shown in appendix C.

73.Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function over 
the year. These are distinct historic performance indicators, as opposed to the 
predominantly forward looking prudential indicators. The indicators used to assess 
the performance of the treasury function are:

 Cash investments - 3-month LIBID rate.
 Property related investments – IPD Balance Property Unit Trust Index.
 Equities – FTSE all shares index

74.The results of these indicators will be reported in both the annual mid-year and year 
end treasury reports.

Policy on the use of treasury management advisors

75.The council has a joint contract for treasury management advisors with Vale of 
White Horse District Council. Link Asset Services (was Capita Asset Services) 
provides a range of services which include:

 technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues, statutory reports;
 economic forecasts and interest rate analysis;
 credit ratings / market information service involving the three-main credit 

rating agencies;
 strategic advice including a review of the investment and borrowing strategies 

and policy documents.

76.The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon our external service providers. It also recognises that there is value in 
employing external providers of treasury management services in order to acquire 
access to specialist skills, resources and up to date market information.
Treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the Section 151 
officer

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



77.  Council
 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 

activities;
 approval of annual strategy.

78.Joint Audit and Governance Committee/ Cabinet 
 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy statement and treasury management practices;
 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 

recommendations;
 Ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management function

79.  Section 151 Officer/ Interim Head of Finance 
 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 

reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance;
 submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
 submitting budgets and budget variations;
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment. 

80.The above list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2017 Treasury 
Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the changes in both codes, 
is a major extension of the functions of this role, especially in respect of non-financial 
investments, (which CIPFA has defined as being part of treasury management), this 
is detailed in appendix F.

Summary

81.Prior to the beginning of each financial year the council must approve the treasury 
management strategy. The strategy sets the parameters within which officers can 
manage the council’s cash flows and invest any surplus funds.

82.This strategy provides a commentary on the current financial climate and sets out the 
council’s lending strategy in response to this.

Page 54

Agenda Item 8



Appendix B

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

UK.  2019 has been a year of upheaval on the political front as Theresa May resigned as Prime 
Minister to be replaced by Boris Johnson on a platform of the UK leaving the EU on 31 October, 
with or without a deal.  However, MPs blocked leaving on that date and the EU has agreed an 
extension to 31 January 2020.  In addition, a general election has been called for December. At 
the time of writing (30 October), the whole Brexit situation could still change at any time. Given 
these circumstances and the uncertainty about the result of the general election, any interest 
rate forecasts are subject to material change as the situation evolves.  If Parliament fully 
approves the Withdrawal Bill, then it is possible that growth could recover relatively quickly. The 
MPC could then need to address the issue of whether to raise Bank Rate at some point in the 
coming year when there is little slack left in the labour market that could cause wage inflation to 
accelerate; this would then feed through into general inflation.  On the other hand, if there was a 
no deal Brexit and there was a significant level of disruption to the economy, then growth could 
weaken even further than currently: the MPC would then be likely to cut Bank Rate in order to 
support growth. However, with Bank Rate still only at 0.75%, the MPC has relatively little room 
to make a big impact and it would probably suggest that it would be up to the Chancellor to 
provide help to support growth by way of a fiscal boost by e.g. tax cuts, increases in the annual 
expenditure budgets of government departments and services and expenditure on infrastructure 
projects, to boost the economy. The Government has already made moves in this direction.

The first half of 2019 saw UK economic growth falling to -0.2% in quarter 2 as Brexit 
uncertainty took a toll. In its Inflation Report of 1 August, the Bank of England was notably 
downbeat about the outlook for both the UK and major world economies. The MPC meeting of 
19 September reemphasised their concern about the downturn in world growth and also 
expressed concern that prolonged Brexit uncertainty would contribute to a build-up of spare 
capacity in the UK economy, especially in the context of a downturn in world growth.  This 
mirrored investor concerns around the world which are now expecting a significant downturn or 
possibly even a recession in some major developed economies. It was therefore no surprise 
that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% throughout 
2019, so far, and is expected to hold off on changes until there is some clarity on what is going 
to happen over Brexit. However, it is also worth noting that since Boris Johnson became Prime 
Minister, the government has made significant statements on various spending commitments 
and a relaxation in the austerity programme. This will provide some support to the economy 
and, conversely, take some pressure off the MPC to cut Bank Rate to support growth.

As for inflation itself, CPI has been hovering around the Bank of England’s target of 2% during 
2019, but fell to 1.7% in August and September. It is likely to remain close to 2% over the next 
two years and so it does not pose any immediate concern to the MPC at the current time. 
However, if there was a no deal Brexit, inflation could rise towards 4%, primarily because of 
imported inflation on the back of a weakening pound.

With regard to the labour market, despite the contraction in quarterly GDP growth of -0.2% q/q, 
(+1.3% y/y), in quarter 2, employment continued to rise, but at only a muted rate of 31,000 in 
the three months to July after having risen by no less than 115,000 in quarter 2 itself.  However, 
in the three months to August, employment swung into negative with a fall of 56,000, the first 
fall for two years.  Unemployment duly rose from a 44 year low of 3.8% on the Independent 
Labour Organisation measure in July to 3.9%.  Wage inflation also edged down slightly from a 
high point of 3.9% to 3.8% in August, (3 month average regular pay, excluding bonuses).  This 
meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates higher than CPI inflation), earnings grew by about 
2.1%. As the UK economy is very much services sector driven, an increase in household 
spending power is likely to feed through into providing some support to the overall rate of 
economic growth in the coming months. The quarter 2 GDP statistics also included a revision of 
the savings ratio from 4.1% to 6.4% which provides reassurance that consumers’ balance 
sheets are not over stretched and so will be able to support growth going forward. This would 
then mean that the MPC will need to consider carefully at what point to take action to raise 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



Bank Rate if there is an agreed Brexit deal, as the recent pick-up in wage costs is consistent 
with a rise in core services inflation to more than 4% in 2020.   

In the political arena, if there is a general election soon, this could result in a potential 
loosening of monetary policy and therefore medium to longer dated gilt yields could rise on the 
expectation of a weak pound and concerns around inflation picking up although, conversely, a 
weak international backdrop could provide further support for low yielding government bonds 
and gilts.

USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a temporary boost in 
consumption in that year which generated an upturn in the rate of growth to a robust 2.9% y/y.  
Growth in 2019 has been falling back after a strong start in quarter 1 at 3.1%, (annualised 
rate), to 2.0% in quarter 2.  Quarter 3 is expected to fall further. The strong growth in 
employment numbers during 2018 reversed into a falling trend during 2019, indicating that the 
economy is cooling, while inflationary pressures are also weakening.

The Fed finished its series of increases in rates to 2.25 – 2.50% in December 2018.  In July 
2019, it cut rates by 0.25% as a ‘midterm adjustment’ but flagged up that this was not intended  
to be seen as the start of a series of cuts to ward off a downturn in growth. It also ended its 
programme of quantitative tightening in August, (reducing its holdings of treasuries etc).  It then 
cut rates again in September to 1.75% - 2.00% and is thought likely to cut another 25 bps in 
December. At its September meeting it also said it was going to start buying Treasuries 
again, although this was not to be seen as a resumption of quantitative easing but rather an 
exercise to relieve liquidity pressures in the repo market. Despite those protestations, this still 
means that the Fed is again expanding its balance sheet holdings of government debt. In the 
first month, it will buy $60bn , whereas it had been reducing its balance sheet by $50bn per 
month during 2019. As it will be buying only short-term (under 12 months) Treasury bills, it is 
technically correct that this is not quantitative easing (which is purchase of long term debt).

Investor confidence has been badly rattled by the progressive ramping up of increases in tariffs 
President Trump has made on Chinese imports and China has responded with increases in 
tariffs on American imports.  This trade war is seen as depressing US, Chinese and world 
growth.  In the EU, it is also particularly impacting Germany as exports of goods and services 
are equivalent to 46% of total GDP. It will also impact developing countries dependent on 
exporting commodities to China. 

EUROZONE.  Growth has been slowing from +1.8 % during 2018 to around half of that in 
2019.  Growth was +0.4% q/q (+1.2% y/y) in quarter 1 and then fell to +0.2% q/q (+1.0% y/y) in 
quarter 2; there appears to be little upside potential to the growth rate in the rest of 2019. 
German GDP fell by -0.1% in quarter 2; industrial production was down 4% y/y in June with car 
production down 10% y/y.  Germany would be particularly vulnerable to a no deal Brexit 
depressing exports further and if President Trump imposes tariffs on EU produced cars.  

The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its programme of quantitative easing purchases of 
debt in December 2018, which then meant that the central banks in the US, UK and EU had all 
ended the phase of post financial crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial markets 
by quantitative easing purchases of debt.  However, the downturn in EZ growth in the second 
half of 2018 and into 2019, together with inflation falling well under the upper limit of its target 
range of 0 to 2%, (but it aims to keep it near to 2%), has prompted the ECB to take new 
measures to stimulate growth.  At its March meeting it said that it expected to leave interest 
rates at their present levels “at least through the end of 2019”, but that was of little help to 
boosting growth in the near term. Consequently, it announced a third round of TLTROs; this 
provides banks with cheap borrowing every three months from September 2019 until March 
2021 which means that, although they will have only a two-year maturity, the Bank was making 
funds available until 2023, two years later than under its previous policy. As with the last round, 
the new TLTROs will include an incentive to encourage bank lending, and they will be capped 
at 30% of a bank’s eligible loans. However, since then, the downturn in EZ and world growth 
has gathered momentum; at its meeting on 12 September, it cut its deposit rate further into 

Page 56

Agenda Item 8



negative territory, from -0.4% to -0.5%, and announced a resumption of quantitative easing 
purchases of debt; (at its October meeting it said this would start in November at €20bn per 
month -  a relatively small amount compared to the previous buying programme).   It also 
increased the maturity of the third round of TLTROs from two to three years. However, it is 
doubtful whether this loosening of monetary policy will have much impact on growth and, 
unsurprisingly, the ECB stated that governments will need to help stimulate growth by ‘growth 
friendly’ fiscal policy. 

On the political front, Austria, Spain and Italy have been in the throes of forming coalition 
governments with some unlikely combinations of parties i.e. this raises questions around their 
likely endurance. The latest results of two German state elections will put further pressure on 
the frail German CDU/SDP coalition government.

CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years, despite repeated rounds 
of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are increasing. Major progress still needs to be 
made to eliminate excess industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address 
the level of non-performing loans in the banking and shadow banking systems. In addition, 
there still needs to be a greater switch from investment in industrial capacity, property 
construction and infrastructure to consumer goods production.

JAPAN - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth and to get inflation 
up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal stimulus. It is also making little progress 
on fundamental reform of the economy. 

WORLD GROWTH.  Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by increasing 
globalisation i.e. countries specialising in producing goods and commodities in which they have 
an economic advantage and which they then trade with the rest of the world.  This has boosted 
worldwide productivity and growth, and, by lowering costs, has also depressed inflation. 
However, the rise of China as an economic superpower over the last thirty years, which now 
accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has unbalanced the world economy. The Chinese 
government has targeted achieving major world positions in specific key sectors and products, 
especially high tech areas and production of rare earth minerals used in high tech products.  It 
is achieving this by massive financial support (i.e. subsidies) to state owned firms, government 
directions to other firms, technology theft, restrictions on market access by foreign firms and 
informal targets for the domestic market share of Chinese producers in the selected sectors. 
This is regarded as being unfair competition that is putting western firms at an unfair 
disadvantage or even putting some out of business. It is also regarded with suspicion on the 
political front as China is an authoritarian country that is not averse to using economic and 
military power for political advantage. The current trade war between the US and China 
therefore needs to be seen against that backdrop.  It is, therefore, likely that we are heading 
into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of 
western countries from dependence on China to supply products.  This is likely to produce a 
backdrop in the coming years of weak global growth and so weak inflation.  Central banks are, 
therefore, likely to come under more pressure to support growth by looser monetary policy 
measures and this will militate against central banks increasing interest rates. 

The trade war between the US and China is a major concern to financial markets due to the 
synchronised general weakening of growth in the major economies of the world, compounded 
by fears that there could even be a recession looming up in the US, though this is probably 
overblown. These concerns resulted in government bond yields in the developed world falling 
significantly during 2019. If there were a major worldwide downturn in growth, central banks in 
most of the major economies will have limited ammunition available, in terms of monetary policy 
measures, when rates are already very low in most countries, (apart from the US).  There are 
also concerns about how much distortion of financial markets has already occurred with the 
current levels of quantitative easing purchases of debt by central banks. The latest PMI survey 
statistics of economic health for the US, UK, EU and China have all been predicting a downturn 
in growth; this confirms investor sentiment that the outlook for growth during the year ahead is 
weak.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.3 are predicated on 
an assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the EU.  On 
this basis, while GDP growth is likely to be subdued in 2019 due to all the uncertainties around 
Brexit depressing consumer and business confidence, an agreement is likely to lead to a boost 
to the rate of growth in subsequent years  which could, in turn, increase inflationary pressures in 
the economy and so cause the Bank of England to resume a series of gentle increases in Bank 
Rate.  Just how fast, and how far, those increases will occur and rise to, will be data dependent. 
The forecasts in this report assume a modest recovery in the rate and timing of stronger growth 
and in the corresponding response by the Bank in raising rates.

 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit, it is likely that the Bank of 
England would take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help 
economic growth deal with the adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely 
to cause short to medium term gilt yields to fall. 

 If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to 
last for a longer period and also depress short and medium gilt yields 
correspondingly. Quantitative easing could also be restarted by the Bank of 
England. It is also possible that the government could act to protect economic 
growth by implementing fiscal stimulus. 

However, there would appear to be a majority consensus in the Commons against any form of 
non-agreement exit so the chance of this occurring has diminished.

The balance of risks to the UK
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to the 

downside due to the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as well as a 
softening global economic picture.

 The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates are 
broadly similarly to the downside. 

 In the event that a Brexit deal was agreed with the EU and approved by 
Parliament, the balance of risks to economic growth and to increases in Bank 
Rate is likely to change to the upside.

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now working in 
very different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  there has been a 
major increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing 
rates that have prevailed since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an 
economy, (i.e. the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult to determine 
definitively in this new environment, although central banks have made statements that they 
expect it to be much lower than before 2008. Central banks could therefore either over or under 
do increases in central interest rates.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 
 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major downturn in the 

rate of growth.
 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise 

Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker 
than we currently anticipate. 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. In 2018, Italy was a major 
concern due to having a populist coalition government which made a lot of anti-austerity 
and anti-EU noise.  However, in September 2019 there was a major change in the 
coalition governing Italy which has brought to power a much more EU friendly 
government; this has eased the pressure on Italian bonds. Only time will tell whether this 
new coalition based on an unlikely alliance of two very different parties will endure. 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian banks.
 German minority government.  In the German general election of September 2017, 

Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the 
Page 58

Agenda Item 8



fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-
immigration AfD party. The SPD has done particularly badly in state elections since then 
which has raised a major question mark over continuing to support the CDU. Angela 
Merkel has stepped down from being the CDU party leader but she intends to remain as 
Chancellor until 2021.

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Netherlands and 
Belgium also have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which 
could prove fragile. 

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a strongly anti-
immigration bloc within the EU.  There has also been rising anti-immigration sentiment in 
Germany and France.

 In October 2019, the IMF issued a report on the World Economic Outlook which flagged 
up a synchronised slowdown in world growth.  However, it also flagged up that there 
was potential for a rerun of the 2008 financial crisis, but his time centred on the huge 
debt binge accumulated by corporations during the decade of low interest rates.  This 
now means that there are corporates who would be unable to cover basic interest costs 
on some $19trn of corporate debt in major western economies, if world growth was 
to dip further than just a minor cooling.  This debt is mainly held by the shadow banking 
sector i.e. pension funds, insurers, hedge funds, asset managers etc., who, when there 
is $15trn of corporate and government debt now yielding negative interest rates, have 
been searching for higher returns in riskier assets. Much of this debt is only marginally 
above investment grade so any rating downgrade could force some holders into a fire 
sale, which would then depress prices further and so set off a spiral down. The IMF’s 
answer is to suggest imposing higher capital charges on lending to corporates and for 
central banks to regulate the investment operations of the shadow banking sector. In 
October 2019, the deputy Governor of the Bank of England also flagged up the dangers 
of banks and the shadow banking sector lending to corporates, especially highly 
leveraged corporates, which had risen back up to near pre-2008 levels.    

 Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, 
which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
 Brexit – if agreement was reached all round that removed all threats of economic and 

political disruption between the EU and the UK. 
 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate 

and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster 
than we currently expect. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt 
yields. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



Appendix C 

Benchmarking and Monitoring Security, Liquidity and Yield in the Investment 
Service.

1. These benchmarks are targets and so may be exceeded from time to time. Any
variation will be reported, along with supporting reasons, in the Annual Treasury
Report.

2. Yield. The local benchmark currently used to assess the performance of cash
investments is the level of returns contrasted against the London Interbank Bid (LIBID) 
three month rate. This is the interest rate a bank would be willing to pay to borrow from 
another bank for three months.
Property related investments are benchmarked against the IPD Balanced Property Unit 
Trust Index.

3. Liquidity. Liquidity is defined as the council “having adequate, though not excessive, 
cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities to enable it at 
all times to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the 
achievement of its business/service objectives” (CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice).

4. In respect of this area, the council shall seek to:

 maintain a minimal balance held in the council’s main bank account at the
close of each working day. Transfers to the councils call accounts, MMF and
investments will be arranged in order to achieve this, while maintaining access to 
adequate working capital at short notice.

 use the authorised bank overdraft facility or short term borrowing where there is 
clear business case for doing so, to cover working capital requirements at short 
notice

5. Security of the investments. 

In the context of benchmarking, assessing security is very much more a subjective area 
to assess. Security is currently evidenced by the application of minimum credit quality 
criteria to investment counterparties, primarily through the use of credit ratings supplied 
by the three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s). 
Whilst this approach embodies security considerations, benchmarking levels of risk is 
more problematic. One method to benchmark security risk is to assess the historic level 
of default against the minimum criteria used in the Council’s investment strategy. The 
table beneath shows average defaults for differing periods of investment grade products 
for each Fitch long term rating category over the last 20-30 years.

Average defaults for differing periods of investment

Long
term rating 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years
AA 0.04% 0.10% 0.18% 0.27% 0.36%
A 0.05% 0.15% 0.28% 0.42% 0.59%
BBB 0.16% 0.44% 0.77% 1.15% 1.55%

Page 60

Agenda Item 8



6. The council’s minimum long term (i.e. plus 365 day duration) rating criteria is 
currently “A-”. For comparison, the average expectation of default for a two year 
investment in a counterparty with an “A” long term rating would be 0.15 per cent of the 
total investment (e.g. for a £1m investment the average loss would be £1,500). This is 
an average - any specific counterparty loss is likely to be higher. These figures act as a 
proxy benchmark for risk across the portfolio.

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



Appendix D

Explanation of Prudential and Treasury Indicators
Prudential borrowing permits local government organisations to borrow to fund capital 
spending plans provided they could demonstrate their affordability. Prudential indicators 
are the means to demonstrate affordability.

Authorised limit for external debt – this is the maximum limit for external borrowing. 
This is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 
2003. This limit is set to allow sufficient headroom for day to day operational 
management of cash flows.

Operational boundary for external debt – this is set as the more likely amount that 
may be required for day to day cash flow.

Upper limit for fixed and variable interest rate exposure – these limits allow the
council flexibility in its investment and borrowing options.

Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 365 days – the amount it is
considered can be prudently invested for periods in excess of a year

Page 62

Agenda Item 8



Appendix E

Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – credit and counterparty risk 
management

The CLG issued Investment Guidance in 2010, and this forms the structure of the
council’s policy below.
The key aim of the guidance is to maintain the current requirement for councils to invest 
prudently, and that priority is given to security and liquidity before yield. In order to 
facilitate this objective, the guidance requires this council to have regard to the CIPFA 
publication Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes. In accordance with the code, the interim head of finance has 
produced its treasury management practices (TMPs). This part, TMP1(1), covering 
investment counterparty policy requires approval each year

The key requirements of both the Code and the investment guidance are to set an 
annual investment strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the following year, 
covering the identification and approval of following:

 the strategy guidelines for decision making on investments, particularly non-
specified investments. 

 the principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds can 
be committed.

 specified investments that the Council will use. These are high security (i.e. high 
credit rating, although this is defined by the Council, and no guidelines are 
given), and high liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no more 
than a year.

 non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying the 
general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall amount of 
various categories that can be held at any time.

The investment policy proposed for the Council is:

Strategy guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the 
treasury strategy statement.

Specified investments – These investments are sterling investments of not more than 
one-year maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the Council 
has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are considered low risk 
assets where the possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small.  These 
would include sterling investments which would not be defined as capital expenditure 
with:

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF)
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration
 Deposits with UK local authorities
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated)
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A-)

Page 63

Agenda Item 8



 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum rating 
as above) covers pooled investment vehicles, such as money market funds, 
rated AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s and / or Fitch rating agencies.

Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the council has set additional
criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies.
These criteria are as stated in table 5 to this report.

Non-specified investments
These are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined or specified above). The
identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and the 
maximum limits to be applied are as set out in Table 5.

Implementation in 2018/19
In December 2017, CIPFA issued a revised Treasury Management Code of Practice and 
a revised Prudential Code. These revisions have particularly focused on non-treasury 
investments and especially on the purchase of property with a view to generating income.  
Such purchases could involve undertaking external borrowing to raise the cash to finance 
these purchases, or the use of existing cash balances. 

The 2017 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management abolished the treasury 
indicators on limits for fixed and variable rate exposure. However, this was on the basis 
that authorities would explain in words how they control interest rate risk. 

IFRS  9
Risk management will need to take account of the 2018/19 Accounting Code of Practice 
proposals for the valuation of investments. Key considerations are:

 Expected credit loss model. Whilst this should not be material for ordinary treasury 
investments such as bank deposits, this is likely to be challenging for some funds 
e.g. property funds, (and also for non-treasury management investments dealt with 
in the capital strategy e.g. longer dated service investments, loans to third parties 
or loans to subsidiaries).

 The valuation of investments previously valued under the available for sale 
category e.g. equity related to the “commercialism” agenda, property funds, equity 
funds and similar, will be changed to Fair Value through the Profit and Loss 
(FVPL). 

Following the consultation undertaken by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government, [MHCLG], on IFRS9 the Government has introduced a mandatory statutory 
override for local authorities to reverse out all unrealised fair value movements resulting 
from pooled investment funds. This will be effective from 1 April 2018.  The statutory 
override applies for five years from this date. Local authorities are required to disclose 
the net impact of the unrealised fair value movements in a separate unusable reserve 
throughout the duration of the override in order for the Government to keep the override 
under review and to maintain a form of transparency.

Page 64

Agenda Item 8



Appendix F

Extension to the specific responsibilities of the S151 officer as per the Treasury 
Management code

The below list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2017 Treasury 
Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the changes in both codes, is 
a major extension of the functions of this role, especially in respect of non-financial 
investments, (which CIPFA has defined as being part of treasury management);

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, 
non-financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term timeframe.

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent 
in the long term and provides value for money

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure 
on non-financial assets and their financing

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of 
risk compared to its financial resources

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long 
term liabilities

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including 
material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees 

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 
exposures taken on by an authority

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non 
treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk 
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios;

 
o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), 

including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and 
success of non-treasury investments;         

 
o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), 

including a statement of the governance requirements for decision making 
in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to ensure that 
appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision 
making;

 
o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), including 

where and how often monitoring reports are taken;
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the 
relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be 
arranged.

Page 66

Agenda Item 8



Appendix G

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Authorised Limit The maximum amount of external debt at any one time in the
financial year.

Basis Point (BP) 1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01%
Base Rate Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK.

Benchmark A measure against which the investment policy or performance of a
fund manager can be compared.

Bill of Exchange A financial instrument financing trade.

Callable Deposit 

A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a
set amount of time. However, the borrower has the right to repay
the funds on pre-agreed dates, before maturity. This decision is
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was agreed.
If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being repaid rises,
as cheaper money can be found by the borrower.

Cash Fund
Management

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio of
cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts and
distribution of dividends and interest, and all other administrative
work in connection with the portfolio.

Certificate of
Deposit (CD)

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society
repayable on a fixed date. They are negotiable instruments and
have a secondary market; therefore, the holder of a CD is able to
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD.

Commercial
Paper

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers. Such
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although some
may be interest bearing.

Corporate Bond 

Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by companies.
However, the term is used to cover all bonds other than those
issued by governments in their own currencies and includes issues
by companies, supranational organisations and government
agencies.

Counterparty Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.)

CDS 

Credit Default Swap – a swap designed to transfer the credit
exposure of fixed income products between parties. The buyer of a
credit swap receives credit protection, whereas the seller of the
swap guarantees the credit worthiness of the product. By doing
this, the risk of default is transferred from the holder of the fixed
income security to the seller of the swap.

CFR Capital Financing Requirement.
CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.
CLG Department for Communities and Local Government.

Derivative 
A contract whose value is based on the performance of an
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an option
is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the
performance of an underlying stock.

DMADF Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office,
guaranteed by the UK government.

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



ECB 

European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the EMU
area. The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest rate
setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 2 per
cent. It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the
business cycle.

Enhanced Cash
Funds

A pooled investment fund. Longer dated investment than a MMF
and, unlike a MMF, enhanced cash funds have variable asset
value. Assets are marked to market on a daily basis and the unit
prices vary accordingly. Investments can be withdrawn on a notice
basis (the length of which depends on the fund) although such
funds would typically be used for investments of 3 to 6 month
duration.

Equity 
A share in a company with limited liability. It generally enables the
holder to share in the profitability of the company through dividend
payments and capital gain.

Forward Deal The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for an
agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate.

Forward Deposits Same as forward dealing (above).
Fiscal Policy The government policy on taxation and welfare payments.
GDP Gross Domestic Product.

Gilt 
Registered British government securities giving the investor an
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt that
those securities represent.

Mark to Market
Accounting

Accounting on the basis of the “fair value” of an asset or liability,
based on the current market price. As a result, values will change
with market conditions.

Minimum
Revenue
Provision

This is a prudent sum set aside each year to offset the principal
repayment of any loan to smooth the impact on the local taxpayer.

Money Market
Fund

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments. It is very similar
to a unit trust, however a MMF relies on loans to companies rather
than share holdings.

Monetary Policy
Committee (MPC)

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to as
being base rate). Their primary target is to keep inflation within
plus or minus 1 per cent of a central target of 2.5 per cent in two
years’ time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee.
Their secondary target is to support the government in maintaining
high and stable levels of growth and employment.

Non-UCITS Retail
Scheme (NURS) –

Undertakings for collective investments are funds authorised to be
sold in the UK that are required to meet standards set by the UK
services regulator. An example is property funds.

Operational
Boundary

The most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario of external
debt at any one time.

Other Bonds Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds.
PWLB Public Works Loan Board.
QE Quantitative Easing.

Retail Price Index 
Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of prices
at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure pattern of
the average person.

Page 68

Agenda Item 8



Sovereign Issues
(Ex UK Gilts)

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states but excluding UK
government bonds.

Supranational
Bonds

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment
Bank. The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development Bank
bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to gilts, but
pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative illiquidity when
compared with gilts.

Treasury Bill 
Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK or
other governments. They provide a return to the investor by virtue
of being issued at a discount to their final redemption value.

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



Cabinet Report

Report of Interim Head of Finance 
Author: Simon Hewings
Telephone: 01235 422499
E-mail: simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk 

Cabinet member responsible: David Turner
Tel: 01865 891169
E-mail: David.turner@southoxon.gov.uk 
To: CABINET
Date: 30 January 2020

Capital strategy 2020/21 to 2029/30

Recommendation

That Cabinet recommends Council to approve the capital strategy 2020/21 to 2029/30 
which is contained in appendix one of the report of the interim head of finance to Cabinet 
on 30 January 2020.

Purpose of Report

1. To request cabinet to recommend council to approve the capital strategy for 2020/21 to 
2029/30. The capital strategy outlines the council’s approach to capital spending, 
based on the council’s corporate strategy, and is linked to the council’s corporate 
objectives, medium term financial strategy, and management of projects and 
programmes.

Strategic Objectives 

2. The capital strategy assists the council in meeting its strategic objectives. It will provide 
a high-level overview of how capital expenditure; capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services.  By determining the 
framework within which decisions on capital expenditure and investment are made the 
strategy will ensure that such decisions assist the council in meeting its corporate 
strategic objectives.

Background

3. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
requires local authorities to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with service objectives and take 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability.  

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 70

Agenda Item 9

mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:David.turner@southoxon.gov.uk


Under the Code, a capital strategy is required to be agreed ahead of the 2020/21 
financial year and will be reviewed on an annual basis.

4. The capital strategy for 2020/21 to 2029/30 is attached as appendix one to this report. 
The strategy provides the overall policy framework for capital expenditure and 
investment.  It does this by bringing together the requirements of the council’s strategic 
objectives, and the constraints of its medium term financial plan, and within the 
parameters set by those it determines how capital schemes can be progressed from 
initial idea through to conclusion. 

5. There are number of key “building blocks” that are essential to underpin the strategy 
that are currently being developed.  These include:

 An asset management strategy and maintenance plan
 Medium term service planning.

6. The capital strategy will be a key document for the council going forward.  It will provide 
a high-level overview of how capital expenditure; capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services. It will also provide an 
overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability.  It will increase transparency in the planning, approval and monitoring of 
capital expenditure. 

Financial Implications

7. There are no direct financial implications arising from implementing the strategy. 

Legal Implications

8. None.

Conclusion

9. This report provides details of the proposed capital strategy for 2020/21 to 2029/30 and 
asks cabinet to recommend the capital strategy to council. These documents provide 
the parameters within which capital expenditure and investment decisions will be made 
once the supporting requirements are in place.

Background Papers

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 

Appendices

Appendix one Capital strategy 2020/21 to 2029/30. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



1

Capital Strategy
               2020/21 – 2029/30

Page 72

Agenda Item 9



2

Contents
1 Introduction.........................................................................................................................................3

2 Purpose................................................................................................................................................3

3 Scope ...................................................................................................................................................3

4 Capital Expenditure .............................................................................................................................3

5 Capital vs. Treasury Management Investments ..................................................................................4

6 Delivery and Commercial Investments ................................................................................................4

6.1 Delivery investments ........................................................................................................................4

6.2 Commercial investments ..................................................................................................................4

7 Due Diligence.......................................................................................................................................5

8 Council Objectives ...............................................................................................................................5

9 The Capital Budget Setting Process .....................................................................................................5

9.1 Key Criteria for Strategy ...................................................................................................................5

9.2 Deciding which Schemes are to be put forward for review..............................................................6

9.3 Prioritisation of Schemes put forward..............................................................................................7

9.4 Options Appraisals, Feasibility Studies .............................................................................................7

9.5 In Year Opportunities .......................................................................................................................7

9.6 Member Approval Process ...............................................................................................................7

10 Monitoring of the Capital Programme Expenditure ..........................................................................7

11 Multi-Year Schemes...........................................................................................................................7

12 Funding Strategy and Capital Policies................................................................................................8

12.1 External Funding.............................................................................................................................8

12.2 Capital Receipts ..............................................................................................................................8

12.3 Prudential/Unsupported Borrowing...............................................................................................8

12.4 Invest to Save Schemes ..................................................................................................................9

12.5 Leasing ............................................................................................................................................9

13 Procurement and Value for Money ...................................................................................................9

14 Performance Management................................................................................................................9

15 Risk Management ............................................................................................................................10

Page 73

Agenda Item 9



3

1 Introduction 

The council’s capital strategy represents its approach to future investment. The 
council has a significant capital investment programme for the period from 2020/21 
to 2025/26. The council faces a number of competing demands on finite resources. 
To achieve its aims the council seeks to work with partners who share its ambitions 
for improved outcomes for residents. 

2 Purpose 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
requires local authorities to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with long-term objectives and 
take account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and 
affordability. 

The Capital Strategy will be a key document for the Council and will form part of the 
authority’s integrated revenue, capital and balance sheet planning. It will provide a 
high-level overview of how capital expenditure; capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services. It will also provide an 
overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability.  It will include an overview of the governance processes for developing 
proposals, approval and monitoring of capital expenditure. 

3 Scope 

This Capital Strategy will include all capital expenditure and capital investment 
decisions, not only as an individual local authority but also any entered into under 
joint arrangements. It sets out the long-term context in which decisions are made 
with reference to the life of the projects/assets and will stress the need for evidence-
based decision making.

4 Capital Expenditure 

Capital expenditure is incurred on the acquisition or creation of assets, or 
expenditure that enhances or adds to the life or value of an existing fixed asset that 
is needed to provide services. Fixed assets are tangible or intangible assets that 
yield benefits to the Council generally for a period of more than one year, e.g. land, 
buildings, vehicles. This contrasts with revenue expenditure which is spending on the 
day to day running costs of services such as employee costs and supplies and 
services.  

The capital programme is the authority’s plan of capital works for future years, 
including details on the funding of the schemes. Included are the projects such as 
the purchase of land and buildings, the construction of new buildings, design fees 
and the acquisition of vehicles and major items of equipment.  Also included would 
be any commercial investments. 

Page 74

Agenda Item 9



4

5 Capital vs. Treasury Management Investments 

Treasury Management investment activity covers those investments which arise 
from the organisation’s cash flows and debt management activity, and ultimately 
represent balances which need to be invested until the cash is required for use 
during the course of business. 

For Treasury Management investments the security and liquidity of funds are placed 
ahead of the investment return. The management of associated risk is set out in the 
Treasury Management Policy and the Annual Investment Strategy. 

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code recognises that organisations may make 
investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury management activity. 
These may include service and commercial investments. 

6 Delivery and Commercial Investments 

These are investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury management                           
activity. These may include: 

6.1 Delivery investments 

These are investments held clearly and explicitly in the course of the provision, and 
for the purposes, of operational delivery, including regeneration. 

6.2 Commercial investments 

These are investments taken for mainly financial reasons. These may include: 

1. investments arising as part of business structures, such as shares and 
loans in subsidiaries or other outsourcing structures such as IT providers 
or building services providers; 

2. investments explicitly taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for 
the Council. 

Commercial investments also include fixed assets which are held primarily for 
financial benefit, such as investment properties.  

Due to the nature of the assets or for valid investment reasons, such investments do 
not always give priority to security and liquidity over yield. In these cases, such a 
decision will be explicit, with the additional risks set out and the impact on financial 
sustainability identified and reported. 

The Section 151 Officer/Interim Head of Finance will ensure that the Council has the 
appropriate legal powers to undertake such investments and will also ensure the 
proportionality of all investments so that the Council does not undertake a level of 
investing which exposes it to an excessive level of risk compared to its financial 
resources. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



5

7 Due Diligence 

For all capital investments, it is proposed that the appropriate level of due diligence 
will be undertaken with the extent and depth reflecting the level of additional risk 
being considered. 

The process and procedures will include effective scrutiny of proposed investments 
that will, for example, consider:

 identification of the risk to both the capital sums invested and the returns; 
 understanding the extent and nature of any external underwriting of those 

risks; 
 the potential impact on the financial sustainability of the Council if those 

risks come to fruition; 
 identification of the assets being held for security against debt and any 

prior charges on those assets;  
 where necessary independent and expert advice will be sought.

The Section 151 Officer/Interim Head of Finance will ensure that members are 
adequately informed and understand the risk exposures being taken.  Internal control 
and policy compliance will regularly be assessed by Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee. 

8 Council Objectives 

The Council has a set of corporate aims, priorities and objectives which shapes the 
provision of services. These are set out in the Corporate Plan.  Capital investment 
projects if, and when undertaken, must be in line with these overall objectives and 
considered in the longer term. 

9 The Capital Budget Setting Process 

9.1 Key Criteria for Strategy 

For any budget setting year, the key criteria by which proposals would be considered 
will be set. These may include for example: 

 Maintenance of the essential infrastructure of the organisation; 
 Essential Health and Safety works; 
 Essential rolling programmes;
 Invest to save schemes;
 Match funded investment for regeneration projects; 
 The outcome of feasibility studies.

Page 76

Agenda Item 9



6

9.2 Deciding which Schemes are to be put forward for review

When decisions on capital projects to be put forward are made it is proposed that 
consideration is given to the following: 

Prudence:

 Recognition of the ability to prioritise and refocus following changes to the 
Council’s Corporate Plan;

 Recognition of the capacity in the organisation to deliver such a programme; 
 Recognition of the knowledge and skills available and whether these are 

commensurate with the appetite for risk;
 Recognition of the future vision of the authority;
 The approach to commercial activities including ensuring effective due 

diligence, defining the risk appetite and considerations of proportionality in 
respect of overall resources;

 The approach to treasury management and the management of risk is set out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy. 

Affordability:

 Revenue impact of the proposals on the Medium Term Financial Plan;
 The borrowing position of the Council as required, projections of external debt 

and the use of internal borrowing to support capital expenditure;
 The authorised limits and operational boundaries;
 Whether schemes are profiled to the appropriate financial year. 

Sustainability:

 An overview of asset management planning including maintenance 
requirements and planned disposals;

 A long-term view of capital expenditure plans, where long term is defined by 
the financing strategy of and risks faced with reference to the life of the 
project/assets;

 If the need to borrow is approved provision for the repayment of debt over the 
life of the underlying debt as set out in the Minimum Revenue Provision policy 
and consideration by Joint Audit and Governance Committee of the impact on 
the repayment on future viability.

All proposals would be produced in line with the Corporate Delivery Framework 
which will ensure the above points on prudence, affordability and sustainability are 
considered.

Sources of funding would be considered for each of the proposed capital schemes. 
Each project would be considered in terms of revenue funding to cover the 
operational running costs of the asset and any borrowing repayment costs, and how 
the asset would be funded in terms of capital expenditure. This is known as whole 
life budgeting. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 9



7

9.3 Prioritisation of Schemes put forward 

A system for prioritising capital projects will be adopted where funds allow.  This will 
result in a list of proposals to be considered as part of that year’s budget setting 
process. 

9.4 Options Appraisals and Feasibility Studies 

As part of the process of producing a list of potential schemes the capital programme 
option appraisals will be required to determine the most cost effective and best 
service delivery options. 

Some projects may require a feasibility study. As part of any feasibility study an 
assessment of the maintenance costs per annum averaged over the whole life of the 
asset will be calculated. 

9.5 In Year Opportunities 

Schemes which arise during the year will only be considered for inclusion in the 
capital programme if they meet key criteria set out in section 9.1 or one or more of 
the following criteria: 

 The location of the property to be purchased will bring added value to the 
estate;

 The requirement for the asset is an extraordinary service demand which could 
not be anticipated in the normal planning processes. 

9.6 Member Approval Process 

As part of the annual budget cycle.

10 Monitoring of the Capital Programme Expenditure 

The Capital Budget Monitoring Report is currently produced quarterly, listing 
provisional and approved capital schemes, giving details of the project manager, 
budgets, year to date spend, brought forward spend and capital financing. 

The report is sent to budget managers of each department for comment and reports 
are returned to Finance Team for incorporating into the Capital Budget Monitoring 
Report that is sent to the Strategic Management Team for review to ensure schemes 
are on target.  Summaries are presented to formal Cabinet meetings for 
consideration.

When the capital schemes are completed a full evaluation report will be made 
available. 

Page 78

Agenda Item 9



8

11 Multi-Year Schemes 

Payments for capital schemes often occur over many years, depending on the size 
and complexity of the project. Estimated payment patterns are calculated for each 
project so that the expected capital expenditure per year is known. This is known as 
a cash flow projection and is key to analysing funding requirements. 

The length of the planning period is defined by the financing strategy and the risks 
faced with reference to the life of the project/assets.  For example, some schemes 
may span two or three years whereas others may be over much longer timeframes.

This allows greater integration of the revenue budget and capital programme and 
matches the time requirement for scheme planning and implementation since 
schemes have a considerable initial development phase. 

12 Funding Strategy and Capital Policies 

This section sets out the policies of the Council in relation to funding capital 
expenditure and investment. 

12.1 External Funding 

The Council will seek to maximise external funding wherever possible to support 
capital schemes. This can be in the form of grants and contributions from outside 
bodies including central government. 

Prior to submitting proposals for grant funding, an assessment of the risk of a 
contract price increase, associated with market conditions or abnormal building plan 
demands attached to some grants, must be completed to estimate the likelihood of 
additional funding being needed. 

12.2 Capital Receipts 

A capital receipt is an amount of money which is received from the sale of an asset. 
In most cases they cannot be spent on revenue items.  

12.3 Prudential/Unsupported Borrowing 

Local Authorities can set their own borrowing levels based on their capital need and 
their ability to pay for the borrowing. The levels will be set by using the indicators and 
factors set out in the Prudential Code. This borrowing may also be referred to as 
Prudential Borrowing.  

Section 151 Officer/Interim Head of Finance will make an assessment of the overall 
prudence, affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing which is reviewed by 
the Joint Audit and Governance Committee before approval by the Council. The 
impact of this borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management Strategy 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



9

alongside the Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance.

The view of the Section 151 Officer/Interim Head of Finance will be fed into the 
corporate budget process so that, should the required borrowing levels be 
unaffordable or not prudent, then the schemes will be prioritised against the available 
funding from borrowing. 

Section 151 Officer/Interim Head of Finance will also determine whether the 
borrowing should be from internal resources, or whether to enter external borrowing. 

12.4 Invest to Save Schemes 

Occasionally projects arise which require set-up costs.  Such projects may bring long 
term service delivery improvements and/or cost savings. The initial set up costs may 
be of a revenue or capital nature. Assistance for these schemes must be considered 
on an individual basis. 

For ‘invest to save’ schemes it is expected that in the longer term these schemes will 
produce savings and/or additional income that will support the revenue budget. 

12.5 Leasing 

Section 151 Officer/Interim Head of Finance may enter into finance leasing 
agreements to fund capital expenditure. However, a full option appraisal and 
comparison of other funding sources will be made, and the Section 151 
Officer/Interim Head of Finance will ascertain that leasing provides the best value for 
money method of funding the scheme. 

Under the Prudential Code finance leasing agreements are counted against the 
overall borrowing levels when looking at the prudence of the authority’s borrowing. 

13 Procurement and Value for Money 

Procurement is the purchase of goods and services, with a strategy being developed 
to assist with the definition of quality standards and securing provision of the best 
possible services for local people for a given price.  

The Council uses Capita and In-House Procurement to help ensure value for money 
and to identify where efficiency savings can be achieved. This also covers capital 
procurement. 

It is essential that all procurement activities comply with procurement legislation and 
adhere to the relevant requirements. Guidance on this can be sought from the 
Procurement team. Procurement must also comply with the Councils policies and 
regulations such as Contract Procedural Rules and Financial Regulations. 

The main aim is to hold ‘value for money’ as a key goal in all procurement activity to 
optimise the combination of cost and quality and ensure all expenditure is 
appropriate.

Page 80

Agenda Item 9



10

14 Performance Management 

Clear measurable outcomes will be developed for each capital scheme. After the 
scheme has been completed, a review can be undertaken.

Reviews will look at the effectiveness of the whole project in terms of operational 
delivery outcomes, design and construction, financing etc. and identify good practice 
and lessons to be learnt in delivering future projects. 

15 Risk Management 

To manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital project will be 
identified, analysed, and monitored. 

It is important to identify the appetite for risk (see below) by each scheme and for the 
capital programme, especially when investing in capital assets held primarily for 
financial returns. Under the CIPFA Prudential Code these are defined as 
investments and so the key principle of control of risk and optimising returns 
consistent with the level of risk applies. 

Section 151 Officer/Interim Head of Finance will explicitly identify the affordability 
and risk associated with the Capital Strategy. Where appropriate they will consider 
specialised advice to assist in decision making. 

An assessment of risk will therefore be built into every capital project and major risks 
recorded in a Risk Register, before consideration by Council. 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



1

Council Report

Report of Acting Deputy Chief Executive – Transformation and Operations
Author: Adrianna Partridge
Telephone: 01235 422485
E-mail: Adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
To: Council
Date: 13 February 2020

Pay policy statement 2020-21

Recommendation

That Council approve the attached statement of pay policy for 2020-21.

Purpose of report

1. The Localism Act 2011 requires the council to produce and publish annually a pay 
policy statement.  By approving the attached statement the council will discharge 
this responsibility.

Background

2. The purpose of the pay policy statement is to promote transparency on public 
sector pay, particularly in relation to remuneration of senior officers.  Comparisons 
are also made with the remuneration of the lowest paid employees and with 
average salaries.

3. The pay policy statement must be approved by 31 March each year, by a meeting 
of the Full Council.  The pay policy statement may be amended during the year by 
further resolution of the council.

4. Once approved, the pay policy statement must be published on the council website 
and by any other means that the council sees fit.

5. Because officers of each council are placed at the disposal of the other and their 
costs are shared, the pay policy statement attached has been drafted jointly with 
Vale of White Horse District Council.    

Recommendation

6. Council is asked to approve the pay policy statement for 2020-21.

Background papers

None

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 82

Agenda Item 12



2

Pay Policy Statement for 2020-21

INTRODUCTION

1. This is a joint statement of South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District 
Councils.

2. The Localism Act 2011 requires each council to produce and publish annually a 
pay policy statement.  The statement must be approved by 31 March each year, by 
a meeting of the Full Council, and must then be published on the council’s website.  
The pay policy statement may be amended during the year by further resolution of 
the council.

3. The pay policy statement must as a minimum include details of the council’s policy 
on:

 the remuneration of its chief officers

 the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees

 the relationship between the remuneration of its chief officers and other officers.

4. For the purposes of the Localism Act 2011 and this statement, the term “chief 
officers” is defined by Section 2 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.  
For these councils, the term “chief officers” refers to the chief executive, heads of 
service, service managers, the head of paid service, the monitoring officer and the 
chief finance officer.

5. Chief officers may be employed by either council, and are placed at the disposal of 
the other by means of an agreement made under Section 113 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

ORGANISATION STRUCTURE
6. There were no changes to the substantive organisational structure during 2019-

2020. Recruitment for vacant positions will continue in 2020-21.

REMUNERATION OF CHIEF OFFICERS
7. Chief officers are paid a spot salary.  The spot salaries which apply for the whole of 

2020-21 after the increase of 3.93 per cent are as follows:

 chief executive: £166,288

 heads of service: £98,314

Service Managers will be paid on the joint council pay scale at grade 11.

Page 83

Agenda Item 12



3

 service managers: £60,429 to £65,595

8. Chief officers do not receive any performance-related pay or bonuses.  

9. The chief executive has been designated as the councils’ head of paid service. No 
additional remuneration is payable for that designation.

10.The head of finance has been designated as the councils’ chief finance (section 
151) officer. No additional remuneration is payable for that designation.

11.The head of legal and democratic has been designated as the councils’ monitoring 
officer. No additional remuneration is payable for that designation.

12.The head of legal and democratic has been appointed as the councils’ returning 
officer.  In this role they receive additional remuneration, which varies from year to 
year.  They may also employ other officers to support them in their work.  Fees 
payable for district and parish council elections are agreed by each council.  Fees 
for other types of election are agreed and payable by the government or other 
bodies such as Oxfordshire County Council.

13.Chief officers do not receive overtime, on-call or stand-by payments, and do not 
receive additional payment for attendance at evening meetings.  The chief 
executive, at their discretion, may make additional responsibility payments as 
required. Two heads of service will be in receipt of honorarium payments in 2020-
21 for acting as deputies to the chief executive. 

14.On recruitment of a new head of service within the current management structure, 
the gross base salary on recruitment will be the spot salary stated in paragraph 7, 
though this may be varied if an interim appointment is made.

15.On recruitment of a new chief executive, the gross base salary will be determined 
by the Joint Staff Committee.  

16. In the event of a chief officer’s post becoming redundant, any severance payment 
will be made on the same basis as to any other employee, according to the 
councils’ organisational change policy.  Other than any pension to which they are 
statutorily entitled, no other payments will be made to chief officers on their 
ceasing to be employees of the council unless in settlement of any dispute.  

17.Chief officers’ contributions to the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) are 
determined by their salary and by the rules of the scheme.  For those who are 
members of the LGPS and paying contributions on the whole of their salary, heads 
of service currently pay 10.5 per cent of their salary into the scheme, while the 
chief executive pays 12.5 per cent.  Service Managers who earn less than £53,500 
will pay 6.8 per cent, those who earn between £53,501 and £64,600 will pay 8.5 
per cent, those who earn above £64,601 will pay 9.9 per cent.  

18.No enhancements will normally be paid to chief officers’ pensions other than in the 
event of a chief officer being offered early retirement on efficiency grounds, and 
only then with the approval of the Joint Audit and Governance Committee.

Page 84

Agenda Item 12



4

19.The councils will not re-employ a chief officer who has left their employment and is 
now drawing a local government pension, unless there are exceptional 
circumstances.  

LOWEST-PAID EMPLOYEES

20.The lowest-paid employees are employed on full time [37 hours] equivalent 
salaries in accordance with the minimum spinal column point currently in use within 
the council’s grading structure. As at 1 April 2020, this is £18,746 per annum. The 
chief executive’s salary is thus 8.9 times the salary of the lowest-paid member of 
staff.

REMUNERATION OF CHIEF OFFICERS COMPARED WITH OTHER 
OFFICERS

21.Employees who are not chief officers are paid according to locally agreed pay 
scales, with annual increments paid subject to performance until the employee 
reaches the top of the scale.  These pay scales will increase by 3.93 per cent with 
effect from 1 April 2020.

22.The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) published 
in February 2015 a code of recommended practice for local authorities on data 
transparency.  This code of practice recommends publishing the “pay multiple”, the 
ratio between the highest paid salary and the median average salary of the whole 
of the authority’s workforce.  For this council the median salary during 2020-21 will 
be £36,456 (based on current data).  The pay multiple defined above is thus 4.6.

Page 85

Agenda Item 12


	Agenda
	 Map
	Howbery Park site map

	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2019/20
	8 Treasury management and investment strategy 2020/21
	9 Capital strategy 2020/21 to 2029/30
	Appendix, 30/01/2020 Cabinet

	12 Pay policy statement 2020/21

